

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of PhD at the University of Warwick

Permanent WRAP URL: http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/102838/

Copyright and reuse:

This thesis is made available online and is protected by original copyright. Please scroll down to view the document itself. Please refer to the repository record for this item for information to help you to cite it. Our policy information is available from the repository home page.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk

Pathways that Regulate Renal Development, Fibrosis, and Metabolic Disease in Mouse Models

Abdulsalam Soofi, MS, BS

Research Lab Specialist Senior Department of Pathology-Medical School University of Michigan, Ann Arbor Michigan, USA

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Division of Metabolic & Vascular health Warwick Medical School University of Warwick United Kingdom 2017

Contents:

- Acknowledgment	6				
- Declaration.	7				
- Acknowledgments of contributions.	11				
- Abstract	12				
- Chapter I	14				
I.a- Pax2 Roles and Regulation in Kidney Development, Disease, and Repai Regeneration	r/				
I.a.1- Mammalian Pax Gene Family					
I.a.2- Pax2 Role in Kidney Development					
I.a.3- Pax2 Role in Kidney Repair and Regeneration					
I.a.4- Pax2 & TGFβ Superfamily Interaction During Kidney Development					
I.b- Kidney Biology and Function.					
I.c- Chronic Kidney Disease and Fibrosis.					
I.d- Obesity; Origin and Characterization of Adipose Tissue					
I.e- Obesity and Liver	29				
I.f- The Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF β) Signaling Pathway	30				
I.f.1- TGFβ Signaling Transduction/ Diagram					
I.f.2- TGFβ Prologues (TGFβ-1, 2, 3) in Kidney					
I.f.3- Regulation of Receptor Activation					
I.g Kielin/Chordin-like Protein (KCP) Characterization	37				
I.g.1- KCP Functions and Attributions					
I.g.2- Original Description of KCP					
I.g.3- Generation of KCP KO mice					

Papers Resulting from Research for this Thesis

Paper 1- Soofi, A., Levitan, I., and Dressler, G.R. (2012). Two novel EGFP insertion alleles reveal unique aspects of Pax2 function in embryonic and adult kidneys. Developmental Biology *365*, 241-250.

Paper 2- Soofi, A., Zhang, P., and Dressler, G.R. (2013). Kielin/chordin-like protein attenuates both acute and chronic renal injury. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 24, 897-905

Paper 3- Soofi, A., Wolf, K.I., Ranghini, E.J., Amin, M.A., and Dressler, G.R. (2016). The kielin/chordin-like protein KCP attenuates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology *311*, G587-G598.

Paper 4- Soofi, A., Wolf, K.I., Emont, M.P., Qi, N., Martinez-Santibanez, G., Grimley, E., Ostwani, W., and Dressler, G.R. (2017). The kielin/chordin-like protein (KCP) attenuates high-fat diet-induced obesity and metabolic syndrome in mice. Journal Biological Chemistry *292*, 9051-9062.

- Chapter III	132	
Thesis Conclusions, Reflections and Future Directions		
III.a- Thesis Conclusions		
III.b- Thesis Reflections and Future Directions		
III.b.1- The 'How I would do the experiments differently now'		
question?		
III.b.2- Further experiments based on this thesis		
- List of references		
- Candidate List of Publications	170	

- Personal Statement

172

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Victor Zammit, medical school, University of Warwick, UK. I admire him for his patience, motivation, and the continuous support he gave me during the process of my Ph.D application and thesis. His immense knowledge and clear guidance helped me write this thesis in best way possible.

My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Greg Dressler, Department of Pathology, medical school, University of Michigan, for providing me the opportunity to join his lab. He gave me the freedom and trust to do my own work independently. Without his strong support, it would not be possible to conduct this research and obtain my degree.

I would like to thank my friend Dr. Adam Stein and Dr. Patel, medical school, University of Michigan for their support and encouragement.

I thank my fellow lab mates and dear friends Dr. Egon Ranghini and Dr. Edward Grimley for the insightful discussions and support.

Last but not the least; I would like to thank my family; my wife for supporting me spiritually for the last 20 years and my children, Aisha and Hamzah, who inspired me to go forward with this work.

Declaration

I, Abdulsalam Soofi, declare that the work presented in this thesis submitted to the University of Warwick in support of my application for the Doctor of Philosophy. This document has been prepared and edited by myself and has not been previously submitted for application to obtain any degree.

The document presents a comprehensive list of sources of background, published articles and biography that shall constitute original contribution to knowledge in the field. The projects, experimental design, experimental executions, data collections, and data analysis included in the published work were carried out by the author as the first author and signed by the corresponding author Dr. Dressler.

le Author Signature /

Abdulsalam Soofi

Articles corresponding author signature

Dr. Greg Dressler Collegiate Professor of Pathology Research University of Michigan Biomedical Science Research Bldg/R 2049 109 Zina Pitcher Pl. Ann Arbor, MI 48109-2200 dressler@med.umich.edu

7

I, Abdul Soofi, (same as Abdulsalam Soofi) declare that this list of four papers submitted to the University of Warwick in support of my thesis/ application for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

...... Date. 10.2.17 Signature.

Paper 1- Two novel EGFP insertion alleles reveal unique aspects of Pax2 function in embryonic and adult kidneys. Abdul Soofi, Inna Levitan, and Gregory R. Dressler. Dev Biol. 2012 May 1; 365(1): 241-250.

This work was performed under the supervision of Professor G. R. Dressler his Lab, at the Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Michigan. This work was supported by NIH grants DK054740 and DK062914 to Dr. Dressler.

Abdul Soofi developed the concepts and experimental approaches, performed the experiments and data analysis, prepared the Figures, and participated in the drafting and editing of the manuscript.

Inna Levitan preformed the whole mount for in situ hybridization shown in Figure 3.

Date 10-2-17 Signed Professor G. R. Dressler_

Principal Investigator and Corresponding author

Paper 2. Kielin/ Chordin-Like Protein Attenuates both Acute and Chronic Renal Injury. Abdul Soofi, Peng Zhang, and Gregory R. Dressler J Am Soc Nephrol 24: 897–905, 2013.

This work was performed under the supervision of Professor G. R. Dressler his Lab, at the Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Michigan. This work was supported by NIH grants DK054740 and DK062914 to Dr. Dressler.

Abdul Soofi developed the concepts and experimental approaches, performed experiments and data analysis, prepared the Figures and participated in the drafting and editing of the manuscript.

Peng Zhang (graduate3 student in the Dressler Lab) contributed to the Quantitative RT-PCR data in Figure 5.

.Date 10-2-17 Signed Professor G. R. Dressler

Principal Investigator and Corresponding author

Paper 3- The kielin/chordin-like protein KCP attenuates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. Abdul Soofi, Katherine I. Wolf, Egon J. Ranghini, Mohammad A. Amin, and Gregory R. Dressler Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2016 Oct 1;311(4):G587-G598

This work was performed under the supervision of Professor G. R. Dressler his Lab, at the Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Michigan. This work was supported by National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) Grants DK-062914 and DK-073722 to G. R. Dressler; the core services were supported by NIDDK Grants DK-02057 and DK-089503 to Dr. Dressler at the University of Michigan.

Abdul Soofi preformed the conception and design of the project, preformed the experiments, collection and analysis of data, prepared the Figures and participated in the drafting and editing of the manuscript.

Katherine I Wolf assisted with experiments and data analysis,

Egon Ranghini and Mohammad Amin assisted with data analysis. Signed: Katherine I. Wolf. Date 10/4/17 Signed: Egon J. Ranghini .. Signed: Mohammad A. Amin ... IJDate Signed Professor G. R. Dressler Principal Investigator and Corresponding author

Paper 4- The Kielin/Chordin-like Protein (KCP) Attenuate High Fat Diet Induced Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome in Mice. Abdul Soofi, Katherine I. Wolf, Margo P. Emont, Nathan Qi, Gabriel Martinez-Santibanez, Edward Grimley, Wesam Ostwani, and Gregory R. Dressler Journal of Biological Chemistry. April 19, 2017, DOI 10.1074/jbc.M116.771428

This work was performed under the supervision of Professor G. R. Dressler his Lab, at the Department of Pathology, Medical School, University of Michigan. This work was supported by National Institutes of Health Grants DK062914 and DK073722 and 1F31DK112625 to the University of Michigan.

Abdul Soofi designed and coordinated the study and performed the experiments, collected and analyzed the data, prepared the Figures and participated in the drafting and editing of the manuscript.

Katherine Wolf assisted with experiments and data analyzes for Figs. 1, 3 and 5; Margo Emont collected, and processed samples for experiment in Fig.7; Nathan Qi assisted with data analyses and coordinated the experiments in Fig. 2; Gabriel Martinez-Santibanez performed the experiment for Fig. 4; Edward Grimley assisted with the data analyzes and results discussion; Wesam Ostwani assisted with experiments for Figs 3 and 5.

-	Signed: Katherine I. Wolf . Hall U.M. Date 10/02/17
-	Signed: Margo P. Emont
-	Signed: Nathan Qi. MARDAZZ Date 0/4/17
-	Signed Gabriel Martinez-Santibanez
-	Signed: Edward Grimley Development Date 10/2/17
-	Signed: Wesam Ostwani Mesay Date 10/3/17
-	Signed: Professor G.R.Dressler Smith Date 10-2-17
	Principal Investigator and Corresponding author

Acknowledgment of Contributions

My extended acknowledgments to the core facilities at the University of Michigan for their contributions.

- Thanks to the Transgenic Animal Model Core Facility:

Tom Saunders and E. Hughes for the generation of ES cells carrying the Egfp-neo cassette. M. Van Keuren for helping to generate the KCP transgenic mice,

- Thanks to the Mouse Genomic Core Facility:

Jante Hoff for help with the UUO surgery

- Thanks to the Images Analysis, Microscope & Image Analysis laboratory Core:

Chris Edward for his help with image analysis of the embryonic kidney life images. Judy Poore and Jeff Harrison for tissue processing and sectioning.

- Thanks to the DNA Sequencing Core:

Craig Johnson for affymetrix analyses

- Thanks to the Animal Phenotyping Core:

Elisabeth Limback and Melanie Schmitt for help with the metabolic analysis.

- Thanks V. Haase for the Pepck promoter fragment and J. Brodie for the initial work in the Pax2-egfp targeting vector.

ABSTRACT

The kidney is an essential organ that maintains homeostasis, maintains water and mineral balance, and removes metabolic waste products from the body. In mammals, the kidney derives from the intermediate mesoderm (IM) and develops through a multistep process where undifferentiated mesenchyme is converted into a highly complex organ. Several transcriptional regulators, including the Pax2 gene, have been identified in the specification and maintenance of this multistep process. The Pax2 gene marks the IM shortly after gastrulation, when the mesoderm becomes compartmentalized into paraxial, intermediate, and lateral plate. Pax2 expression in the IM distinguishes all of the cells fated to become epithelia in the urogenital tract and is necessary to establish and maintain this phenotype. Pax2 null mutants do develop a nephric duct (Brophy et al., 2001; Soofi et al., 2012), but the duct is completely absent in a Pax2/8 double mutant, suggesting that these Pax genes function redundantly in this early IM domain; however, in Pax2 homozygous mutant mice, the metanephric mesenchyme neither responds to inductive signals nor does the mutant mesenchyme aggregate into early renal vesicles resulting in a lack of kidneys, ureters, and genital track. We describe two new alleles of Pax2 created by inserting the Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein coding region into the 5' untranslated leader sequence. One allele is a hypomorph that generates less protein and exhibits structural defects in kidneys and ureters upon homozygosity. A second allele is a true null that can be used to image Pax2 expressing cells in a mutant background. Organ culture and embryo analyses point to a loss of epithelial cell polarity and increased mobility in cells that have deleted Pax2 function. These experiments provide new insight into the role of Pax2 protein levels in determining correct renal architecture and cell fate.

The prevalence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) worldwide is reflected by the increasing number of people with end stage renal disease (ESRD) requiring some form of renal replacement therapy. The overall incidence of ESRD is increasing at an alarming rate and is correlated with the rise of diabetes, obesity, and hypertension. Yet, effective therapies for chronic fibrosis in the kidney and other tissues are still awaited. Among the most extensively studied signaling pathways in renal fibrotic disease are those of the TGF β superfamily (TGF β and BMPs). Given the critical roles for TGF β and BMP

proteins in enhancing or suppressing renal interstitial fibrosis, respectively, the results of this thesis will show how the expression of this secreted protein KCP could diminished renal fibrosis in mouse models of chronic and acute kidney disease.

In vivo, KCP-KO mice are viable and fertile but are more sensitive to tubular injury and exhibit significant pathology after recovery. Also, deletion of KCP sensitized mice to developing obesity and associated complications such as liver steatosis and glucose intolerance. In contrast, transgenic mice that expressed KCP in the kidney, liver, and brown adipose tissues were resistant to developing high fat diet induced obesity and had significantly reduced white adipose tissue. This data demonstrates that modulation of the TGF β signaling with secreted inhibitors or enhancers can alter the profile of adipose tissue, which reduces obesity and impaired the progression of metabolic disease.

The Metabolic Syndrome is reaching epidemic proportions in the developed world, primarily due to the increased availability of high caloric foods and the decrease in daily physical activity. Energy balance is critical for maintaining normal body weight and homeostasis. When caloric intake chronically exceeds energy expenditure, white adipose tissue stores excess energy in the form of triglycerides, leading to obesity and related complications such as type-2 diabetes, a condition also referred to as metabolic syndrome which is a condition of chronic sub-clinical inflammation.

In mice, the TGF β superfamily has been implicated not only in the development and differentiation of white and brown adipose tissues, but also in the induction of the pro-inflammatory state that accompanies (Tseng et al., 2008). The work outlined in this thesis suggests that altering the TGF β superfamily signaling pathway by a secreted protein (KCP) can attenuate renal fibrosis and the negative effects of obesity-associated metabolic syndrome. Providing a conceptual basis for the use of small molecule analogues of KCP to attenuate profibrotic pathways that depend on continued TGF β signaling and/or counteraction by BMPs may potentially provide a novel approach to translating the protective role of specific BMPs (e.g. BMP-7) into clinical benefit.

Chapter I. General Background

Ia. Pax2 Roles and regulation in Kidney development, disease, and Repair/Regeneration

I.a.1- Mammalian Pax Gene Family

The PAX family is classified into four groups according to their structural similarity, sequence homology, the presence or absence of an octapeptide motif and also according to its homeodomain or partial homeodomain (Dahl et al., 1997) (Table 1). Pax proteins are characterized by the presence of a 128 amino acid sequence in their structure, which constitutes a DNA-binding domain, the paired domain (PD) (Chi and Epstein, 2002). Each Pax protein has a c-terminal region, rich in serine and threonine, that is responsible for transcriptional activation of target genes (Chi and Epstein, 2002; Ward et al., 1994).

All of the Pax genes are expressed in developing structures and control the early specification of specific cell types or the compartmentalization of the embryo into specific regions. These proteins can modulate the expression of diverse genes in a complex pattern, as it is mediated not only by the binding of PD to DNA, but also through interactions with other DNA-binding domains (Dahl et al., 1997). The nine Pax genes, (Pax-1 to Pax-9), described in humans and mice are associated with organogenesis and maintenance of the pluripotency state of stem cell populations during development (Chi and Epstein, 2002).



Table1.Pax proteins are characterized by the presence of a paired domain and are subdivided in four groups based on other conserved domains.

I.a.2- Pax2 Role in Kidney Development

In mouse embryos, Pax2 is expressed around the 9-somite stage in the nephric duct primordium (Bouchard et al., 2000; Bouchard et al., 2002; Torres et al., 1995). Pax2 mutant embryos initially form a nephric duct, which degenerates by apoptosis during the elongation process, and fail to form normal mesonephric tubules (Dressler et al., 1990). As a result, Pax2-deficient embryos completely lack metanephric kidneys (Bouchard et al., 2002; Torres et al., 1995). Surprisingly, Pax8 null embryos show normal nephric duct and kidney development but die postnatally due to developmental defects in the thyroid gland (Mansouri et al., 1998). However, in the context of Pax2 gene deficiency, Pax8 inactivation exacerbates urogenital defects such that the pro/mesonephros is completely absent and the prospective renal tissue undergoes massive apoptosis (Bouchard et al., 2002). This finding demonstrates the functional redundancy between Pax2 and Pax8 as pro/mesonephros development is initiated normally with either Pax2 or Pax8 present (Bouchard et al., 2002). The fact that only Pax2 is required for later renal development

may reflect higher expression levels in the nephric duct epithelium. Alternatively, both proteins may have acquired distinct features rendering Pax2 better suited to sustain the renal transcriptional program beyond the pro/mesonephros stage. In this system, Pax2 could also synergize with Lhx1, but since its onset of expression occurs after pronephric induction, it likely plays a later role in pronephric development (Buisson et al., 2015; Carroll and Vize, 1999). Given the crucial role of Pax2 in renal fate specification and morphogenesis, it becomes essential to understand the mechanisms by which they are activated in the intermediate mesoderm. The induction of the prospective kidney field in the intermediate mesoderm is set by secretory morphogens along the mediolateral axis, while regulatory molecules expressed along the rostro-caudal axis seem to define a domain of renal competence. On the mediolateral axis, the intermediate mesoderm is surrounded by the paraxial mesoderm (prospective somitic field), the surface ectoderm and the lateral plate mesoderm. Evidence so far suggests that Bmp4 from the ectoderm activates itself in the lateral plate mesoderm, which in turn is necessary for Pax2 expression in the intermediate mesoderm (James and Schultheiss, 2003, 2005; Obara-Ishihara et al., 1999). In species such as frog and zebrafish, the intermediate mesoderm marker Osr1 has also been identified as a competence factor and regulator of Pax2 expression (Tena et al., 2007). However, Osr1 mutant mice do form a pro/mesonephros, indicating that, by itself, this transcription factor is not a critical regulator of lineage induction (Mugford et al., 2008b). Instead, mouse Osr1 plays an important, but later, role in mesonephric tubules and metanephric kidney induction (Mugford et al., 2008b). Recent studies have explored the gene regulatory networks downstream of Pax genes in the renal system. In the nephric duct, Pax2/8 were found to regulate the transcription factor genes Gata-3and Lhx1, which together with Pax proteins, turn on the down-stream transcriptional program necessary for renal morphogenesis (Boualia et al., 2013). Gata-3 acts as a driver of nephric duct guidance and morphogenesis in the mouse embryo (Grote et al., 2008), while Lhx1 plays an important role in nephric duct elongation and survival (Kobayashi et al., 2005; Potter et al., 2007; Shawlot and Behringer, 1995; Tsang et al., 2000). Similarly, Pax2/8 co-operate with Hnf1 in the nephric duct and the ureteric bud epithelium. Gene inactivation studies have shown that Hnfl is an important regulator of nephric duct differentiation and ureteric bud branching (Lokmane et al., 2010). Together,

these findings underline the complexity of the Pax2 regulatory network in the ductal epithelium and further suggest that some regulatory interactions are maintained but are utilized differently in different systems.

The metanephros is the site of adult kidney development in the vertebrate embryo and responds to the concerted action of several genetic regulators. Metanephric development in mice begins at E10.5 by induction of the nephric duct to form the ureteric bud, which invades the metanephric mesenchyme and initiates branching morphogenesis. Ureteric bud formation is initiated by the action of the mesenchymal signal Gdnf that binds the co-receptor complex Ret/GFR 1 expressed in the nephric duct epithelium (Chi et al., 2009). This crucial interaction induces cell shape changes and proliferation that leads to the invasion of the metanephric mesenchyme by the ureteric bud (Chi et al., 2009; Dressler, 2009). Accordingly, inactivation of Gdnf, Ret or Gfr1 prevents ureteric bud formation, leading to renal agenesis (Skinner et al., 2008). Pax genes act on this system at several distinct levels during kidney development. In the nephric duct, Ret is a direct regulatory target of Gata3 (Boualia et al., 2013; Grote et al., 2008; Marcotte et al., 2014). The Pax2/8-Gata3 cascade is therefore necessary to establish the responsiveness of the nephric duct to kidney induction. Among the transcriptional regulators are Osr1, Pax2, Eya1, Hox11 and Six1/2 (Brophy et al., 2001; Wellik et al., 2002; Xu et al., 1999; Xu et al., 2003). Inactivation of each of these genes leads to a down regulation or loss of Gdnf expression in the metanephric mesenchyme which prevents normal kidney development.

I.a.3- Pax2 Role in Kidney Regeneration and Repair

The cellular hallmark of kidney repair is a rapid proliferative response ultimately leading to the restoration of nephron structure and function. The level of Pax gene expression must be finely tuned in renal cells to ensure proper tissue homeostasis. In the mouse urogenital system, Pax2 expression persists in the nephrogenic zone until around ten days after birth, but is normally switched-off as the renal epithelium differentiates (Dressler and Douglass, 1992). Re-activation of Pax2 expression in mature renal

epithelial cells is seen during kidney repair and is also associated with a number of diseases including cancer and polycystic kidney disease (PKD) (Dressler, 2011; Dressler and Douglass, 1992; Esquela and Lee, 2003; Imgrund et al., 1999; Lindoso et al., 2009; Winyard et al., 1996). On the other hand, loss of Pax2 is closely associated with congenital abnormalities of the kidneys and urogenital tract (Hwang et al., 2014). Dysplastic kidneys are a common cause of chronic kidney failure in young children and results from perturbed epithelial-mesenchymal interactions (Yang et al., 2000). In this study, they found that components of the TGF β 1 axis were expressed in these malformations: TGF^{β1}, mRNA, and protein were up-regulated in dysplastic epithelia and surrounding mesenchymal cells, whereas TGFB receptors I and II were expressed in aberrant epithelia. They further generated a dysplastic kidney epithelial-like cell line that expressed cytokeratin, and ZO1. They also found that exogenous TGF^β1 inhibited proliferation and decreased expression of Pax2 and BCL2, molecules characterizing dysplastic tubules in vivo. Yang Su P et al., study provided preliminary data to support the hypothesis that TGF β 1 is implicated in the pathogenesis of human renal dysplasia by regulating Pax2 expression. Despite Pax2 transient expression during embryogenesis, its deregulation is associated with several anomalies in mice and humans. Failure in Pax2 expression leads to anephric kidneys, while its continued expression results in kidney malformations (Dressler et al., 1993; Winyard et al., 1996). Therefore, the correct upand downregulation of this gene are extremely important. It is difficult to list all the Pax2-regulated genes, as the Pax2 binding domain seems to be present in many different genes, but some of them are not related to modulation by Pax2. To date, Pax2-regulated genes have been reported that play a role in kidney development (Brophy et al., 2003; Dehbi et al., 1996; Grote et al., 2006; Sariola and Saarma, 2003; Self et al., 2006; Stark et al., 1994; Stuart et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 2007). However, there is very little known about specific Pax2-regulated genes during kidney repair. The supposition that Pax2 might play a crucial role in renal regeneration was reinforced after Imgrund and coworkers demonstrated that the Pax2 gene was re-expressed in proximal tubule cells after injury (Imgrund et al., 1999). In healthy adult kidneys, Pax2 is detectable only in cells of the collecting ducts (Torban et al., 2000) and the medulla. Later, Maeshima and coworkers using an ischaemia/reperfusion animal model confirmed that Pax2 is

singularly re-expressed among other transcription factors, such as Pax8, WT1, Wnt4 and BF-2, which are also present during development (Maeshima et al., 2002a). These studies emphasize that the presence of Pax2 may potentially influence renal regeneration, conducting key events as it does during development, but that actions of Pax2 in renal recovery are still not fully understood. Thus, Pax2 expression would drive tubular kidney cells to proliferate. In addition, the expression of this gene has also been demonstrated to prevent apoptosis. Torban and coworkers (Torban et al., 2000) used different strategies, *in vivo* and *in vitro*, to confirm that the primary function of Pax2 is preventing apoptosis, but demonstrated that Pax2 does not lead to proliferation. Most of the literature is in agreement with the view that Pax2 protects cells from apoptosis; however, further studies are necessary to better clarify other features of Pax2 actions in cell biology. There are very few in vivo approaches to directly associate Pax2 with renal recovery after injury, especially showing the participation of Pax2 in key processes related to tissue repair *in vivo*. It can be considered a growing field of interest as judged by the increasing number of studies showing that different factors known to influence renal tissue regeneration are now being related to Pax-2 gene expression (Maeshima et al., 2002a; Zhang et al., 2004).

I.a.4- Pax2 &TGFβ Superfamily Interaction in Kidney Development

The many processes involved in kidney development are tightly regulated by complex molecular regulatory networks. Members of the TGF β superfamily of signaling molecules have been shown to play important roles both *in vitro* (Bush et al., 2004; Plisov et al., 2001; Sims-Lucas et al., 2008) and *in vivo* to regulate key aspects of kidney development (Dudley et al., 1995; Esquela and Lee, 2003; Michos et al., 2007; Oxburgh et al., 2004; Sakurai and Nigam, 1997). In mice at embryonic day E11.5, transcripts for the three TGF β prologues (TGF β 1, 2, 3) the type I and II TGF β receptors as well as transcripts for many other members of the TGF β superfamily are present in the mouse kidney (Oxburgh et al., 2004). Recent evidence suggests that the efficacy of TGF β

prologues in tissue development depends on the presence or absence of specific TGF β superfamily co-receptors such as the type III TGF β receptor (TGFBR3), commonly referred to as betaglycan, an accessory receptor (Stenvers et al., 2003), The betaglycan heterozygous kidneys exhibited accelerated ureteric branching with a transient decrease in BMP4 expression at E11.5 and a subsequent cascade of changes in the gene regulatory network that governs metanephric development, including significant increases in Pax2, Eya1, Gdnf, Ret, Wnt4, and WT1 expression. In contrast, betaglycan null kidneys exhibited renal hypoplasia (Walker et al., 2011).

Lindoso R S et al., 2009, reported that activin A and TGF β 1 promote downregulation of Pax2 expression inhibiting cellular proliferation (Lindoso et al., 2009). In kidneys, Activins are expressed during development and re-expressed after injury periods (Maeshima et al., 2001; Tuuri et al., 1994). These proteins act as autocrine factors and play different roles in the kidney, such as activation of renal interstitial fibroblasts (Yamashita et al., 2004).

The putative mechanism of action of activin A is regulation of the expression of transcription factors like Pax2 (Nakamura et al., 1990). Data presented by Maeshima and coworkers showed that Pax2-positive cells present specific activin A receptors (ActR-II) and that administration of activin A leads to a reduction in the number of cells therefore BrdU/Pax2 double positive in vivo (Maeshima et al., 2002a). Activin A leads to reduction of Pax2 expression in the kidney culture system during embryonic development as well as in tubular cell lineages (Maeshima et al., 2002a; Maeshima et al., 2002b; Maeshima et al., 2006). The inhibition of activin A, either by follistatin or by superexpression of a mutant truncated receptor, leads to increases in Pax2 expression and cell growth promotion (Maeshima et al., 2002a). Another member of the TGFB superfamily, TGF β 1 has been related to the regulation of Pax2. This growth factor is related to important biological processes such as apoptosis, cell growth, tissue regeneration and development (Grande, 1997). Two decades ago, Liu and coworkers demonstrated that TGF^{β1} promotes a negative regulation in the expression of the Pax2 protein (Liu et al., 1997). However, in contrast to activin A, TGFB1 downregulates Pax2 gene expression through a posttranscriptional process (Liu et al., 1997). This mechanism,

known for modulating important growth regulatory gene products, affects the stability of Pax2 mRNA and consequently promotes a reduction of the Pax2 protein in the cell.

I.b- Kidney Biology and function

The kidneys are the central organs of homeostasis in our body. Filtering removes metabolic waste products, and kidney action adjusts water, salt, and pH to maintain the homeostatic balance of tissue fluids (McMahon, 2016). After gastrulation in mammals, the kidney develops from the intermediate mesoderm as a continuum along the anteroposterior axis in a distinct temporal sequence (Figure1)((Dressler, 2006, 2009). Anterior kidney structures include the pro- and mesonephros, whose complexity, size, and duration vary greatly among vertebrate species. In the mouse, the pronephros is barely detectable, whereas mesonephric tubules are well developed with a proximal glomerulus and convoluted tubules that empty into the nephric duct (Dressler, 2009). Specification of the intermediate mesoderm and the epithelial derivatives that will make the mammalian kidney depend on the concerted action of many transcription factors and signaling proteins. Among the earliest genes expressed in the nephric duct and surrounding mesenchyme is Pax2, the function of which is essential for making and maintaining the epithelium (Dressler, 2011; Soofi et al., 2012). The renal collecting system arises from the ureteric bud, a derivative of the intermediate-mesoderm derived nephric duct that responds to inductive signals from adjacent tissues via a process termed ureteric induction. The ureteric bud subsequently undergoes a series of iterative branching and remodeling events in a process called renal branching morphogenesis. The human kidney is composed of an arborized network of collecting ducts, calyces, and urinary pelvis that facilitate urine excretion and regulate urine composition. The renal collecting system is formed in utero, completed by the 34th week of gestation in humans, and dictates final nephron completion (Blake and Rosenblum, 2014).



Figure 1. The intermediate mesoderm: its origin and derivatives. A) Cross section embryo at E8.5B) the Wolffian duct at E9.0. C) Mesonephric tubules at E10. D) Outgrowth of the ureteric bud (UB). E) The UB has bifurcated and induced mesenchyme surrounds the tips. G) Live image of E115.5 eGFP kidney of WT embryos. Images A to E are from Dressler, 2009 and G done by the author.

The kidneys consist of two essential parts: an outer part "cortex" and an inner part "medulla" (Figure 2). Each adult kidney contains about one million nephrons and each nephron contains a glomerulus surrounded by a thin-walled, bowl-shaped structure named Bowman capsule. The nephron also contains a small tube that drains filtrate from the space in the Bowman capsule and a collecting duct that drains urine from the tubule and regulates urine concentration (Kim et al., 2007). Each tubule has three interconnected parts: the proximal convoluted tubule, the loop of Henle, and the distal convoluted tubule. The distal tubule connects to the collecting duct, a continuous highly arborized epithelial network with a quite distinct origin from the contiguous renal tubule. The collecting duct epithelium displays a distinct cortical-medullary axis of branching, and cellular organization. The medullary collecting ducts are highly water permeable in order to facilitate water retention which is critical for sodium retention (Al-Awqati and Gao, 2011; Pearce et al., 2015).



Figure 2. Adult Kidney Anatomy: A) Adult Kidney image obtained from Kidney Cross Section Diagram – Human Anatomy System. B) Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) of the Cortex. C) SEM of Glomeruli D) a see through the filtration barrier. Images B, C and D done by the author-

The primary function of the kidneys is to maintain the proper balance of water and minerals in the body. Mineral balance is maintained by tightly controlled ion fluxes that are external (intestine and kidney) and internal (between bone and other organs), and are regulated and coordinated by many endocrine signals among these organs (Kuro and Moe, 2016). An additional function is filtration and excretion of waste products from the processing of food, drugs, and harmful substances. Blood is filtered through small pores in the glomerulus, leaving behind blood cells and large molecules, such as proteins. The glomerular basement membrane acts as a filtration barrier, reducing entry of larger molecular weight serum solutes into the nephron (> 15 kDa) such as serum albumin (Miner, 2011; Suh and Miner, 2013). In healthy adults, about 180 liters of fluid is filtered into the kidney tubules each day. Nearly all of this fluid, (and the electrolytes contained in it), is reabsorbed by the kidney. The prevalence of chronic kidney disease substantially increases with increasing metabolic syndrome risk factors (Chen et al., 2004). There are a number of pathologic links between metabolic syndrome and chronic kidney disease (Abrass, 2004). Contemporary research highlights the relationship between hyperinsulinemia and modifications within the kidney, including glomerular hypertrophy, mesangial matrix proliferation, and glomerulosclerosis. These changes are thought to be secondary to glomerular hyperfiltration as well as inflammatory mediators from increased adiposity. Additionally, obesity-related kidney damage has been posited to be due to a series of alterations like hyperlipidemia, increased oxidative stress, increased salt intake, and activation of the sympathetic nervous system (Palatini, 2012). Also hyperglycemia, hypertension (Eckel et al., 2005; Wong et al., 2016) and protein damage due to glycation may contribute to kidney damage (Faria and Persaud, 2017).

I.c- Chronic Kidney Disease and Fibrosis

Chronic kidney diseases (CKD) can be due to structural or functional abnormalities typically characterized by active inflammation and renal fibrosis. While the primary pathology leading to most forms of CKD differs significantly, all forms of progressive renal diseases, including glomerulonephritis, chronic interstitial nephritis, and diabetic nephropathy, exhibit interstitial fibrosis (Eddy, 1996; Fogo, 2000). Despite the strong correlation between tubulointerstitial fibrosis and the loss of renal function, the molecular mechanisms underlying fibrosis have remained elusive. However, evidence pointing to the TGF β superfamily of proteins as primary regulators of fibrosis is accumulating. Indeed, TGF β 1 is generally regarded as the key mediator in the development of renal fibrosis (Flanders, 2004). Transgenic mice overexpressing TGF β develop interstitial fibrosis, as do mice treated with recombinant TGF β (Kopp et al.,

1996; Ledbetter et al., 2000). Furthermore, inhibition of TGF β by neutralizing antibodies can improve injury in various models of kidney disease (Ziyadeh et al., 2000). In the normal kidney, the expression of TGF β is weak; however, many disease states, including diabetes mellitus, increase TGFB activity (Yamamoto et al., 1996). TGFB induces resident fibroblasts to produce extracellular matrix components, such as type IV collagen and fibronectin, leading to the formation of tubulointerstitial fibrosis (Marti et al., 1994; Martin et al., 1998). BMPs may play an important role in kidney development and kidney regeneration (Cirio et al., 2014; Tsujimura et al., 2016). Animal studies have shown that systemic administration of BMP7 can reverse damage induced kidney fibrosis (AKI), improve cartilage damage, and inhibit the formation of bone metastases resulting from prostate or breast cancer, and increase energy expenditure by inducing the formation of brown adipocyte tissue. BMP7 thus seems a very promising new therapeutic agent in the treatment of a variety of disease states, including obesity and obesity-related disorders such as type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease. An understanding of the complexities of the interplay between the TGF^{β1} signaling pathway and the development of CVD, CKD, and obesity with insulin resistance are important (Figure 3).



Figure 3: TGF β 1 is a common target molecule and interactive regulator of pathological conditions. Manipulation of the TGF β 1 signaling pathway may be a useful approach for amelioration of mortality and morbidity in individuals with cardiovascular risk factors, Image done by the author.

I.d- Obesity; Origin and Characterization of adipose tissue

In humans, two types of adipose tissue can be distinguished both histologically and functionally: white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT). Whereas WAT is the main tissue for storage of triglycerides in the form of fat, BAT has evolved to generate heat through uncoupled mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004). Much progress has been made toward understanding the developmental origins of brown and white adipocytes, although all aspects have not been resolved. Lineage- tracing studies of adipose tissue and muscle are both considered to be of mesodermal origin (Gesta et al., 2007). Adipocytes develop from mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells which derive from embryonic stem cells. When triggered by appropriate developmental cues, these cells become committed to adipocyte lineages, i.e. the preadipocytes (Figure 4). More recently, Seale et al., used a myogenic marker, myf5, to perform cell fate mapping in the mouse and found that both skeletal muscle and interscapular brown fat, but not white fat, arise from progenitors expressing myf5 (Seale et al., 2008). In addition to these discrete interscapular brown fat cells, uncoupling protein1 (UCP-1-positive) brown adipocytes are also found systemically distributed in the body, especially within white fat depots (Cousin et al., 1992) and between muscle bundles (Almind et al., 2007). Interestingly, these "systemic" brown adipocytes, such as those present in white fat and muscle, are not derived from myf5-expressing precursors (Seale et al., 2008), suggesting different developmental origins for these different pools of brown fat (beige adipose cells). We are still early in the process of understanding the similarities and differences between brown and beige adipose cells, and we do not yet have a clear picture of their relative importance in energy homeostasis.

The understanding of adipose tissue biology has progressed rapidly recently. The development of successful adipose-tissue-based therapeutic strategies to treat metabolic syndrome is reliant on a good understanding of basic adipose-tissue biology. The recent

confirmation that adult humans have brown adipose tissue (BAT) has transformed our understanding of how adipose tissue regulates metabolism and energy balance once again.



Figure 4. Representation of the origins of white, beige, and brown adipocyte tissue. KCP possible effects on the adipocyte biology. KCP over expression may increase the number of beige cell within the white fat, and KCP deletion has the contrary effect. A modify image from the different shades of fat review (Peirce et al., 2014).

(Cypess et al., 2009; van Marken Lichtenbelt et al., 2009; Virtanen et al., 2009). The relatively new finding that some adult humans have substantial amounts of heatdissipating brown adipose tissue has raised the prospect that in humans it may be an important contributor to energy balance and a possible therapeutic target for the treatment of metabolic disease. The primary function of BAT is to maintain core body temperature in response to cold stress by generating heat, a process known as nonshivering thermogenesis (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004). Brown adipocytes are distinct from white adipocytes in that their abundant mitochondria express uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1), which uncouples substrate oxidation from ATP production so that heat is produced (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004). Consequently, activated BAT has a large capacity for glucose and lipid uptake per gram of tissue, and may contribute towards the regulation of glycaemia and lipidaemia in mouse models of diabetes and dyslipidaemia (Arbeeny et al., 1995; Bartelt et al., 2011). In line with its remarkable capacity for substrate oxidation, BAT is activated in rodents in response to excess nutrient consumption, such as eating a high-fat diet, a process known as diet-induced thermogenesis (Rothwell and Stock, 1983).

Obesity is a considerable public health problem that affects a sizeable part of the world population across all age and racial/ethnic groups. Obesity is a worldwide epidemic that predisposes individuals to cardiometabolic complications, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). The obesity spreading patterns around the world are remarkably predictable, low and middle-income countries are presently going through the same rapid transition from normal weight to overweight to obesity as parts of Europe and the United States already have done. According to the Center for Disease Control (CDC), more than 30% of adults are obese in United States (Ogden et al., 2013). The obesity epidemic is multifactorial, but can be mostly attributed to increased consumption of high calorie foods, decreased physical activity, and an acceptance by individuals that being overweight or obese is simply normal. In obesity, adipocytes undergo hypertrophy, which leads to an imbalanced secretion of adipokines. Adipose tissue secretes polypeptides hormones/factors like Leptin, adiponectin and resistin called "adipokines". Collectively, adipose tissue-secreted factors are involved in energy homeostasis and regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism, immunity, and neuroendocrine systems (Ahima and Lazar, 2008, 2013). Intriguingly, other studies in humans show a very strong and consistent association between resistin and inflammation and/or inflammatory diseases (Senolt et al., 2007). Several developmental regulators hold crucial roles in adipocyte differentiation. Therefore, improved knowledge on the mechanisms underlying the formation of adipose tissue and its role in energy homeostasis is needed for preventing the growing prevalence of obesity and the inappropriate accumulation of ectopic (non-adipose) lipid.

This thesis focuses on the role of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF β) superfamily members in adipogenesis. TGF β changes the adipocyte profile from anti-to pro-inflammatory; invading macrophages switch to a pro-inflammatory phenotype

(Keophiphath et al., 2009). Identification of the pathogenic molecular mechanisms involved, and effective therapeutic approaches are required.

I.e- Obesity and liver

The liver is a key metabolic organ which regulates a variety of processes vital for maintaining metabolic homeostasis. These processes include control of glucose production, lipid metabolism, and dysregulation of which are symptomatic of the metabolic syndrome. The liver is a multicellular organ that relies on two highly conserved mechanisms: the ability to store energy to prevent starvation and the ability to fight infection. White Adipose tissue has the potential to store large amounts of triglycerides whereas the liver stores a limited amount of glycogen for use during starvation or to combat stressful situations. During the course of obesity, the adipose tissue's ability to store excess energy is compromised, leading to ectopic lipid accumulation in non-adipose tissues such as muscle and liver (van Herpen and Schrauwen-Hinderling, 2008). The response of the liver to damage and inflammation is a complex process involving parenchymal and non-parenchymal cells as well as monocytederived hepatic macrophages (Gressner and Bachem, 1995; Morinaga et al., 2015). The failure to regulate this inflammation during the progression of obesity causes pathological chronic hepatic inflammation characterized by the advance of fatty liver to steatohepatitis, fibrosis, cirrhosis, and eventually liver failure (Buzzetti et al., 2016; Robinson et al., 2016).

In addition, both adipose tissue and liver are populated with innate and adaptive immune cells. The transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) family signaling pathways play essential roles in the regulation of different cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation, migration or cell deaths, which are essential for the homeostasis of tissues and organs. Because of the diverse and pleiotropic TGF β functions, deregulation of its pathways contributes to human disease. In the case of the liver, TGF β signaling participates in all stages of disease progression, from initial liver injury through inflammation and fibrosis, to cirrhosis and cancer.

I.f- The transforming growth factor β (TGF β) signaling pathway

I.f.1- TGFβ Signal transduction

Since the purification of its first ligand, TGF β 1, from human platelets in 1983 (Assoian et al., 1983), a considerable body of research has focused on this superfamily and more than 30 ligands have been discovered in humans (Feng and Derynck, 2005; Massague, 2008). According to their sequence similarity and biological effects, the TGF β superfamily can be divided into two distinct groups, the TGF β /activin/nodal subfamily and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs)/anti-muellerian hormone (AMH)/growth and differentiation factors (GDFs) subfamily. The TGF β signaling regulates a diverse set of cell processes. For example, TGF β s cause cell cycle arrest in epithelial and hematopoietic cells and control mesenchymal cell proliferation and differentiation, while BMPs are important for the differentiation of osteoblasts and the survival of renal mesenchymal cells (Massague, 1998; Patel and Dressler, 2005; Reddi, 1998). In fact, TGF β superfamily plays a key role throughout the whole development process and is involved in the formation of nearly all organs.

Although there are a number of ligands and several receptors, the general signaling transduction for TGF β superfamily is relatively simple as illustrated in (Figure 5). In mammals, the binding of TGF β ligand to its receptor, TGF β receptor type II, leads to the recruitment and phosphorylation of TGF β receptor type I (TGF β RI) (Derynck and Zhang, 2003). The activated TGF β RI is a serine/threonine kinase that transduces the signal through phosphorylating receptor-activated Smad proteins (R-Smads), which are the main mediators for TGF β signaling. Commonly, for TGF β s, the R-Smads are Smad2 and 3, while for BMPs, they are Smad1, 5, and 8. The phosphorylated R-Smads usually form a heteromeric complex with a common partner, Smad4 (Co-Smads), and translocate into the nucleus. Normally, the Smad complex requires other transcriptional factors to activate or repress target gene expression (Itoh et al., 2000; Labbe et al., 2000; Sano et al.,

1999). Besides R-Smads and Co-Smads, TGF β signaling can induce the expression of a third group of Smad proteins, Smad 6 and 7 (Inhibitory Smads, I-Smads), which inhibits TGF β signaling through competitive receptor binding and blocking the interaction between R-Smads and Co-Smads (Hayashi et al., 1997; Imamura et al., 1997). The TGF β superfamily is widely involved in embryogenesis and subsequent organogenesis, as it interacts with other signaling pathways, such as Wnt and Notch signaling. Since TGF β superfamily plays critical roles in a variety of biological process, it is highly regulated at different levels, from ligand releasing to mediator activation, and finally to transcriptional complex formation and target gene expression. In the following section, the mechanism through which TGF β signaling is regulated and functions synergistically with other signaling pathways in a defined biological context is discussed.



Figure 5. Diagram representing the functional and structural features of the TGF β Superfamily Signaling include Ligands-Receptors- Smad pathway. TGF β 1 activation occurs with the release from latent TGF β binding protein (LTBP) complex by proteases. TGF β 1 signaling is initiated upon binding of active TGF β 1 with TGF β receptor type II (T β RII) and forming the T β RI-T β RII heteromeric complex, leading to phosphorylation of Smad2/3, oligomerization with Smad4, and subsequent nuclear translocation to regulate the transcription of ECM genes. The monoubiquitination turnover of Smad4 mediated by Ectodermin and FAM (Dupont et al., 2009; Massague, 2008, 2012; Soofi et al., 2013) diagram done by the author.

I.f.2- TGFβ Prologues (TGFβ1, 2, 3) in the Kidneys

Studies of human kidney specimens have confirmed that three major prologues TGF β 1, TGF β 2, and TGF β 3 are expressed in the kidney (Ito et al., 2010). While functional redundancy between the TGF β prologues has been long recognized, there is a growing body of evidence for the existence of nonredundant functions in inflammation and organ development (Ren et al., 2009). TGF β 1 is the predominant and best-characterized member, while TGF β 2 and TGF β 3 are less well known. In the normal adult kidney, glomerular expression of TGF β 2 and TGF β 3 is seen mainly in podocytes, whereas TGF β 1 is primarily detected in the tubules but not in the glomeruli (Ito et al., 2010). Interestingly, glomerular expression of TGF β 1, generally with TGF β 2 and TGF β 3, was detected in podocytes in kidney biopsy specimens from patients with proliferative glomerulonephritis and in mesangial cells in diabetic nephropathy and IgA nephropathy (Ito et al., 2010). Moreover, increased expression of TGF β 1 was associated with development of severe glomerulonephritis and glomerulosclerosis (Ito et al., 2010).

Biological actions of TGF^β prologues are mediated by ligand binding to its receptors for the initiation of signaling. Both TGFB1 and TGFB3 bind directly with TβRII, whereas TGFβ2 requires the presence of a type III TGFβ receptor (TβRIII) for ligand binding to TBRII (Yu et al., 2003). Given the differences in the expression patterns and the mechanism of ligand binding, together with apparent non-overlapping phenotypes of the three TGF^β proteins knockout mice, it is not unreasonable that some cellular responses may differ among the TGF^β prologues. All three TGF^β prologues have been shown, in vitro, to induce ECM protein production in various renal cells, including glomerular mesangial cells, renal fibroblasts, and renal tubular epithelial cells (Wang et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2003). While most studies have demonstrated similar profibrotic effects of the TGFB prologues, a number of studies have suggested that TGFB2 and TGFβ3 can exert antifibrotic effects (Prelog et al., 2005; Ren et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2003). Moreover, TGF β 2 stimulated the expression of ECM proteins and induced EMT in tubular epithelial cells, whereas neutralizing antibody to TGF β 2 or repression of TGF β 2 expression inhibited renal fibrogenesis (Wang et al., 2011). Further investigations are warranted to clarify the seemingly opposite findings regarding the antifibrotic roles of TGF β 2 and TGF β 3, which carry important implications for therapeutic targeting strategy. One of the major tasks ahead will be to further delineate the roles and specificity of the TGF β prologues to concrete targets in normal physiology and to aberrant targets in the altered conditions of disease states.

I.f.3- Regulation of Receptor Activation

Despite the diversity of the ligands for the TGF β superfamily, they all share similar sequence and structure features (Feng and Derynck, 2005). As for TGF β paralogues (TGF β 1, 2, 3), its mature form is cleaved from homodimeric proproteins (pro-TGF β) and remain associated with its N-terminal peptides, called the latency-associated proteins (LAP), to form the latent TGF β complex. A family of large secretory glycoproteins known as latent-TGF β -binding protein (LTBPs) covalently bind to LAP via disulfide linkages to form the TGF β large latent complex. LTBPs are not required for maintenance of TGF β latency but may instead facilitate the secretion and storage of the TGF β -LAP complex, which may be covalently anchored to the extracellular matrix (ECM) from where it can be released in a regulated manner (Figure 5) (Annes et al., 2003; Hyytiainen et al., 2004; Massague, 2012). Whether the ligands from other TGF β subfamily undergo the same secreting process is not clear.

Based on their structural and functional properties, the TGF β receptor family is catalogued into two groups: type I receptors and type II receptors. There are seven type I and five type II receptors dedicated to TGF β signaling in humans (Manning et al., 2002). Both types of the receptors are serine/threonine kinases, sharing a similar structure as an N-terminal extra-cellular ligand binding domain, a transmembrane region, and a Cterminal serine/threonine kinase domain (Shi and Massague, 2003). Compared to the type II receptor, the type I receptors have an extra domain between the transmembrane region, and the kinase domain, termed GS domain (sequence as SGSGSG), which can be phosphorylated by type II receptors and is critical for signaling activation (Souchelnytskyi et al., 1996; Wrana et al., 1994). As for the interaction between the ligands and receptors, there are two distinct modes represented separately by TGF β /Activin subfamily and BMP subfamily. TGF β and Activin showed a high affinity for type II receptors and the type I receptors were recruited only after the ligand-type II receptor complex was formed (Massague, 1998). In contrast, from the analysis of binding affinity, BMPs interacted with the type I receptors first, then the type II receptors (Liu et al., 1995). No matter of this sequential issue, the activation of type I receptors and its interaction with Smad proteins required the phosphorylation of its GS domain by type II receptors (Feng and Derynck, 2005; Massague, 1998; Shi and Massague, 2003).

The regulation of TGF β receptor activation comprises two aspects: (1) controlling the access of TGF β ligands to their receptors; (2) controlling the activation of type I receptors. Two classes of molecules with opposing function regulate the access of TGF β ligands to their receptors. One class consists of a variety of soluble proteins that sequester TGF β ligands and prevent their binding to the receptors. A separate class consists of membrane-anchored proteins, including betaglycan and endoglin, which may function as accessory receptors to enhance TGF β signaling (Massague and Chen, 2000; Shi and Massague, 2003).

	Ligands	Antagonists	Enhancers	Receptor type l	Receptor type II	Coreceptor	Smads
тағр	TGFβ1,2,3 Activin A, B, C Myostatin Nodal GDF 1,3 Inhibin Lefty 1,2	KCP Follistatin	CTGF	ΤβR1 ALK4 ALK4 ALK4, 7 ALK4, 7 	TβR2 ActR-IIA,B ActR-IIA,B ActR-IIA,B ActR-IIA,B ActR-IIA,B ActR-IIA,B	Betaglycan Cripto Cripto Betaglycan Cripto	Smad 2,3 with Smad 4 for all
BMPS	BMP 2,4 BMP 5,6,7 BMP 9, 10 GDF 5,6,7 AMH/MIS	Generally Noggin/CTGF Chordin/Sog Cer1 Cerberus Caronte Drm/Germlin PRDC DAN Dante CeCan1	КСР	BMPR-1A, B BMPR-1A, ALK2 ALK2 BMPR-1A, B BMPR-1A, ALK2	BMPR-II, ActR-II BMPR-II, ActR-II BMPR-II, ActR-II BMPR-II, ActR-II AMHR-II	RMG-a,b,c Endoglin	Smad1,5,8 With Smad4 For all

Table 2. Representation of ligands, antagonists, receptors, coreceptors and smads proteins relationships to the TGF β and BMP branches of the TGF β superfamily signaling pathway (Lin et al., 2005; Massague, 2008; Soofi et al., 2013).

Although the length and structure vary considerably among BMP antagonists, such as Noggin, Chordin/Sog, and DAN family, they all share a common cysteine-rich

region. For example, Noggin contains a carboxy-terminal cysteine-rich (CR) domain, while Chordin contains four cysteine-rich repeats (Massague and Chen, 2000). The CR domain confers the antagonists to form a homodimer to match the structure of BMP ligand homodimers. The crystal structure of the Noggin-BMP7 complex directly showed that Noggin inhibited BMP7 by blocking the surfaces that were required to interact with the type I and type II BMP receptors (Groppe et al., 2002). Those antagonists are expressed during embryogenesis and are critical for the dosal-ventral patterning and left-right asymmetry. Interestingly, although most of the BMP antagonist shared the CR domain, not all proteins containing CR domain counteract BMP. In this thesis it is shown that instead of blocking BMP signaling, the CR domain protein KCP (Kielin/chordin-like protein) enhanced BMP-receptor interactions and counteract the TGF β interactions (figure 6) (Lin et al., 2005).



Figure 6. The secreted protein KCP enhances BMP and suppresses TGF_β.

KCP Interacts with TGF β and BPMs ligands in a paracrine manner. KCP can increase the binding of BMP to its receptor and inhibits TGF β binding to its receptor. Results in the increases of P-Smad1 the BMP effectors and decreases of P-Smad2/3 the TGF β effectors, Image done by the author.

I.g.- Kielin/chordin-like protein (KCP) Characterization

I.g.1. KCP Functions and Attributions

The original description of KCP was made in a series of publications from the Dressler laboratory (Lin et al 2005; Lin et al 2006). The newly-described gene, KCP, encodes a protein with homology to the extracellular regulators of the TGFβ superfamily of secreted signaling peptides. KCP is a large secreted protein with 18 repeated cysteinerich domains. KCP is expressed in the developing kidney at both early and late stages, and its expression is correlated with the formation of early epithelial structures within the intermediate mesoderm, and to the formation of the proximal tubules in the more devolved metanephric kidney. In the mammalian kidney, BMP7 plays an essential role in development and disease. BMP7-null mice show arrested renal development at around E14.5, resulting in severe renal hypoplasia (Dudley et al., 1995; Luo et al., 1995). BMP7 is also an anti-fibrotic agent that can reduce interstitial fibrosis, a common pathology in a broad spectrum of chronic renal disease. Administration of recombinant BMP7 has shown remarkable efficacy in the reduction of glomerular and interstitial fibrosis in mouse models of chronic renal disease (Zeisberg et al., 2003a; Zeisberg et al., 2003b).

BMPs bind to specific type I and type II transmembrane receptors that contain cytoplasmic Ser/Thr kinase domains (Shi and Massague, 2003; Zwijsen et al., 2003). The activated receptor complex then phosphorylates the intracellular Smad proteins, which translocate to the nucleus and activate ligand responsive genes (Nishimura et al., 2003). The regulation of BMP signaling by sequestering ligand availability is a fundamental morphogenetic mechanism during development that establishes the dorsal–ventral pattern in both invertebrates and vertebrates (Capdevila and Belmonte, 1999; Christian, 2000). Numerous proteins such as Noggin, Chordin, Short gastrulation (Sog), Twisted Gastrulation (Tsg), and their related factors Caronte, Cerberus, and Gremlin bind BMP family ligands and prevent their contact with receptors (Garcia Abreu et al., 2002; Shi and Massague, 2003). Chordin and Sog are secreted proteins with repeated cysteine-
rich domains that bind BMPs to inhibit signaling (Larrain et al., 2000).

Unlike previously described CR domain proteins, KCP is a potent paracrine enhancer of BMP signaling. KCP increases the affinity of ligand to receptor and/or enhances the stability of the ligand-receptor complex. Given the role of BMP7 in renal disease, we analyzed the phenotypes of *KCP KO* mice and the KCP transgenic mice in two independent models of renal injury. Both strains of KCP mice were used in the Diet Induced Obesity (DIO) study. The data point to an important role for KCP to enhance BMP signaling, attenuate the initiation, and progression of fibrotic disease after renal injury. KCP also protects mice from the DIO, fatty liver, and metabolic syndrome. These conditions will be discussed in more detail in Chapter II (Soofi et al., 2016; Soofi et al., 2013).

I.g.2- Original Description of KCP

During the course of conducting a yeast two-hybrid screen (Lin et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2006) with an embryonic kidney cDNA library, several hundred partial cDNA clones were sequenced after primary selection. From the embryonic kidney library, a partial cDNA was identified containing a novel protein coding sequences with multiple domains homologous to Xenopus chordin, Drosophila crossveinless 2 (Cv2), and Drosophila Short gastrulation (Sog). Although this cDNA proved negative for specific protein-protein interactions upon secondary selection, the novelty of the coding region and its potential impact on kidney development prompted the need for further investigation of this gene. A mouse embryonic kidney cDNA library was screened by hybridization and overlapping clones was identified. Upon completion of the cDNA sequence, a coding region was found to be similar to Xenopus Keielin protein. The KCP protein consists of 1254 amino acids. KCP protein (GenBank Accession AY884211) reveals a signal peptide, 18 cysteine-rich Chordin repeats (CR), and a carboxyl-terminal Von Willebrand Factor Type D domain (Figure 7A).

The KCP tissue-specific expression patterns were confirmed and expanded upon using whole mount of in situ hybridization using embryos. In mouse embryos at E9.5, the limb bud mesenchyme was positive for KCP RNA (Figure 7B). Expression in the kidney region could be detected as early as E9 in the intermediate mesoderm (Figure 7B, arrow). By E10, the mesonephric tubules and nephric ducts were clearly positive for *KCP* mRNA (Figure 7C and D, arrow). At later stages, high levels of *KCP* mRNA localized to the developing tubules (Figure 7G, arrows and H).





Figure 7. The Structure and Expression pattern of the endogenous KCP protein. A) KCP protein structure representation.

B) Whole mount in situ hybridization of E9 embryo showing staining in limb bud mesenchyme (arrow) and in the nephric duct (arrowhead). C, D) E10 whole mount embryo indicating kcp mRNA expression in the mesonephric tubules (arrow). E) A section taken through an E9 embryo showing kcp mRNA in the forelimb bud mesenchyme (arrowheads) and in the intermediate mesoderm (arrow). F) E10 whole-mount embryo section indicating Kcp mRNA expression in the mesonephric tubules (arrow). G) A bisected E16 kidney with kcp expression in the presumptive proximal tubules (arrows). H) A bisected E16 kidney stained with control sense strand probe. Image A done by the author & B Modify image from Lin et al., 20015.

I.g.3- Generation of KCP KO mice

Generation of The KCP-KO mice was done by homologues recombination in the mouse germline by replacing exons 2-21 of KCP with lacZ and a Geneticin cassete (Figure 8a). By inserting the lacZ gene in frame, its expression was expected to reflect the endogenous pattern of KCP in the embryo. Thus, lacZ was expected to serve as a useful marker to detect KCP expression cells (Lin J., 2005). The targeting vector deletes amino acids 67-774, which includes most of the CR domains. Also, as expected the LacZ/neo cassette inhibits the expression of coding sequences downstream of 774 aa.

Germline chimera's mice were obtained from the injected ES cells clones. The chimeras were then backcrossed with C57Bl/6J to generate the offspring containing the KCP heterozygote mice. Further homozygous KCP–KO mice were generated by crossing KCP heterozygous mice and genotyped by Southern blotting followed by PCR. KCP-KO mice were viable and fertile without obvious abnormalities.



Figure 8. Generation KCP-KO (a) Schematic diagram of the Kcp targeting vector that was designed to delete exons 2–21, spanning amino acids 67–774 of the coding region. The lacZ gene was inserted in frame after amino acid 67 in exon 2 (Lin et al., 2005).

Unlike Chordin, KCP enhances BMP mediated signaling in a paracrine manner by interacting with the type I receptor to facilitate the binding of BMP7 to BMP receptor 1A (Lin et al., 2005). In contrast, mice homozygous for a mutant KCP allele showed no gross developmental abnormalities but exhibited enhanced susceptibility to developing renal interstitial fibrosis in two different animal models, a process known to be regulated by both BMPs and TGF β (Lin et al., 2005). The TGF β pathway can directly transduce extracellular cues from the cell-surface transmembrane receptors to the nucleus through intracellular mediators, known as Smads. The Smad family is well conserved (Feng et al., 1998; Moustakas and Heldin, 2009; Patterson and Padgett, 2000). In most vertebrates, there are eight Smads, compared to six in the Caenorhabditis genus and four in Drosophil*a* species (Huminiecki et al., 2009). Smads proteins can be divided into three functional groups: (1) Receptor-regulated Smads (R-Smads, 1/2/3/5/8); (2) Common Smad (Co-Smad, 4); (3) Inhibitory Smad (I-Smad, 6/7) illustrated in figure 5, page 22.

This thesis will also discuss how TGF β 1 may have a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of obesity and progressive kidney diseases that are characterized by fibrosis. TGF β 1signal transduction is mainly through the Smads protein system, and it is well known that Smad2/3 play important roles in regulating target genes transcription involved in progressed CKD and extracellular matrix (ECM) metabolism. The blockade of Smad3 attenuates development of TGF β 1-driven renal fibrosis. This was examined in vivo in a transgenic model of TGF β 1-induced chronic kidney disease with or without Smad3 expression and in vitro in mesangial cells and glomerular endothelial cells with Smad2/3 inhibitors or Smad3-knockdown (Kellenberger et al., 2013). In addition, Smad3-deficient mice are protected from diet-induced obesity and diabetes. Interestingly, Smad3 deletion results in white adipose tissue acquiring the bioenergetic and gene expression profile of brown adipocytes ('beiging'; (Yadav et al., 2011). Together, this demonstrates that TGF β signaling regulates glucose tolerance and energy homeostasis, and suggests that modulation of TGF β activity by modifying the expression of Smad proteins might be an effective treatment strategy for obesity, diabetes, livers disease, and especially chronic kidney diseases.

CHAPTER III

III. a. Thesis Conclusions, Reflections, and Future Directions

III. a. 1- Thesis Conclusions

In this thesis, evidence has been presented through the published articles, showing a that kidney development in mammals is the final product of three successive embryonic steps that are characterized by the transformation of intermediate mesoderm cells. The development of the first kidney, the transient pronephros, is initiated by signals from the somite and surface ectoderm that induce cells in the intermediate mesoderm to undergo the transition to epithelial cells forming the nephric duct (Mari and Winyard, 2015; Mauch et al., 2000; Obara-Ishihara et al., 1999). The caudal migration of the nephric duct subsequently induces the adjacent nephrogenic mesoderm to aggregate and form the tubules of the mesonephros, the second embryonic kidney. On further extension, the nephric duct reaches the metanephrogenic mesenchyme at the level of the developing hindlimb, where the ureteric bud evaginates from the nephric duct and invades the surrounding mesenchyme. Both the ureter and mesenchyme subsequently undergo reciprocal inductive interactions to form the nephrons and collecting ducts of the metanephros, the third and adult kidney. In humans, new nephron formation, or nephrogenesis, starts during the 5th week of gestation, the first glomeruli appear at the 9th week, and the last new nephron is formed by the 36th week of gestation. In mice, nephrogenesis starts at embryonic day 10.5, with the first glomeruli appearing at embryonic day 14 and the last new nephron approximately appearing 1 week to 10 days after birth (Mari and Winyard, 2015; Saxen and Sariola, 1987; Soofi et al., 2012).

In other parts in this thesis we described that in mammals, Pax genes control the specification of particular cells and tissues, and have also been linked to human congenital malformations (Chi and Epstein, 2002; de Miranda et al., 2014; Robson et al., 2006). The Pax2 gene is crucial for the development of the kidney and the reproductive tract, both of which are derived from the intermediate mesoderm (Dressler, 2006, 2009). Pax2 is among the earliest markers for the intermediate mesoderm, along with the related

gene Pax8 (Bouchard et al., 2002) and the homeodomain protein Lhx1 (Tsang et al., 2000). Kidney development starts when the ureteric bud (UB) invades the metanephric mesenchyme (MM) and transmits inductive signals, such as Wnt9b (Carroll et al., 2005), to promote condensation of the MM around the UB tips. These UB tip associated Cap mesenchyme cells (CM) continue to express Pax2 and are the stem cells of the nephron that generate all of the epithelial derivatives, including distal, proximal, and glomerular epithelium (Kobayashi et al., 2008; Mugford et al., 2008a). The CM undergoes a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition to generate all the epithelial cells of the developing nephron. However, the Pax2 expression is down-regulated in the podocyte precursor cells and the mature epithelial cells of the nephron as development comes to an end (Ryan et al., 1995). This Pax2 positive intermediate mesoderm generates the nephric, or Wolffian, duct, an outgrowth of the duct called the UB, and the surrounding MM. Pax2 null mutant do develop a nephric duct, but the duct is completely absent in a Pax2; Pax8 double mutants. Pax2 and Pax8 have redundant function in kidney development. Pax8 mutant embryos develop a normal urogenital system, but mice die shortly after birth due to defect in the thyroid gland development. In contrast, a Pax2 mutant results in complete renal agenesis because the nephric duct is abnormal and the metanephric mesenchyme cannot respond to inductive signals.

To assess the fate of Pax2 positive cells during embryonic development, we inserted the enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) coding region into the 5' UTR of the mouse Pax2 gene by homologous recombination. Two different alleles were created, one that carries a PGK-neo cassette and another that has PGK-neo deleted. Surprisingly, the presence of PGK-neo results in a hypomorphic allele that is homozygous viable, whereas the deletion of PGK-neo generates a null allele. We utilized both alleles to study Pax2 expression in normal and mutant embryos and to examine the phenotypes of embryos and adults with reduced Pax2 protein levels in the hypomorphs. The results indicate a critical role for Pax2 in maintaining the epithelial integrity of the nephric duct. Furthermore, reduced levels of Pax2 protein generate a spectrum of structural defects including multiple ureters, cystic kidneys, and fewer nephrons. Both of these novel Pax2 alleles are useful for cell imaging, while the new hypomorphic allele is also a good mouse model that mimics multiple aspects of congenital abnormalities of the kidneys and

urogenital track (CAKUT). Among the causes of CAKUT are heterozygous mutations in the Pax2 gene, which lead to Papillorenal Syndrome, and result in hypoplastic kidneys, vesicoureteral reflux, progressive renal failure, and optic nerve coloboma. Losing of Pax2 function results in complete renal and reproductive tract agenesis in mice (Soofi et al., 2012; Torres et al., 1995). In the absence of Pax2, the IM cells assume a pattern of gene expression more consistent with paraxial mesoderm and its derivatives (Ranghini and Dressler, 2015). Despite its central role in kidney development and renal disease, the biochemistry of Pax2 and its effects on gene regulation are not well characterized in a developing tissue. Few target genes have been identified, including many known kidney developmental regulators, such as Gdnf, c-Ret, Six2, Sal1, and Lhx1, but also affected are genes and proteins associated with glycosylation, cell membranes, cell-cell signaling, and cell adhesion (Ranghini and Dressler, 2015). Furthermore, ectopic or deregulated expression of Pax2 is also seen in Wilms' tumor (Dressler and Douglass, 1992), renal cell carcinoma (Gnarra and Dressler, 1995), and polycystic kidney disease (Ostrom et al., 2000), where it is thought to promote proliferation and/or survival. The reactivation of Pax2 expression is also observed in adult kidneys after acute injury, suggesting a critical role for Pax2 in regenerating the epithelia (Humphreys et al., 2008; Imgrund et al., 1999; Kusaba et al., 2014). We also discussed in Chapter I that Pax2 re-expression is regulated by the TGF β superfamily singling pathway.

TGF β and BMP signaling pathways are two main branches of TGF β superfamily, which are essential for normal development and disease progression. TGF β signaling is well characterized for its pro-fibrogenic effect in kidney diseases (Liu, 2010). In vitro, TGF β promoted the transition of epithelial cells to fibroblasts-like cells by downregulating epithelial markers, such as E-cadherin, and activating mesenchymal genes, such as Snail1, Pai1, and Zeb1 (Yang and Liu, 2001). Although the existence of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) *in vivo* was challenged in recent years (Kriz et al., 2011), enforced expression of mesenchymal genes, such as Snail1, in epithelial cells induced renal fibrosis in mice (Boutet et al., 2006), suggesting the critical role of the upregulation of mesenchymal genes in epithelial cells in kidney diseases. Recent data have redefined the role of the surviving epithelial cells in fibrosis and attribute myofibroblast expansion to perivascular and interstitial fibroblasts. After damage, the

kidney has the ability to repair itself. With a mild injury, this repair can result in the return to a structural and functional state that is indistinguishable from normal. However, when the repair is more severe or superimposed on baseline kidney abnormalities, the repair process can lead to fibrosis, which can facilitate progression to chronic kidney disease. Acute kidney injury (AKI) can thus result in incomplete repair and persistent tubulointerstitial inflammation, with a proliferation of fibroblasts and excessive deposition of extracellular matrix, a common feature of many different kinds of kidney diseases and a primary determinant of progression to end-stage renal failure (Forbes et al., 2000). Whether AKI is associated with ischemia reperfusion injury, sepsis or toxins, there is a rapid loss of proximal tubular cell cytoskeletal integrity and cell polarity. There is shedding of the proximal tubule brush border, loss of polarity with mislocalization of adhesion molecules, and other membrane proteins such as the Na+K+ATPase and β integrins (Thadhani et al., 1996; Zuk et al., 1998). Normal cell-cell interactions are disrupted with an injury. When the injury is severe, there is apoptosis and necrosis (Thadhani et al., 1996). Viable and nonviable cells are desquamated leaving regions where the basement membrane remains the only barrier between the filtrate and the peritubular interstitium.

In this thesis, evidence has been presented through the published articles, showing a consistent ability of the secreted kielin/chordin-like (KCP) protein to enhance BMP signaling while suppressing TGF β signaling. These observations indicate a critical role for KCP in modulating the responses between these anti- and pro-fibrotic roles of these cytokines in the initiation and progression of several diseases including liver disease, renal interstitial fibrosis, and obesity. KCP is a secreted, cysteine-rich (CR) protein, with similarity to mouse Chordin and Xenopus laevis Kielin. KCP is an enhancer of BMP signaling in vertebrates and interacts with BMPs and the BMP type I receptor, to promote receptor-ligand interactions. In contrast to the enhancing effect on BMPs, KCP inhibits both Activin-A and TGF β mediated signaling through the Smad2/3 pathway. These inhibitory effects of KCP are mediated in a paracrine manner, suggesting that direct binding of KCP to TGF β or Activin-A can block the interactions with prospective receptors. The ability of KCP to sequester ligands from their receptors and the mechanism of TGF β inhibition remains to be clearly defined in the future.

Mice homozygous for a KCP null allele are hypersensitive to developing renal interstitial fibrosis, a disease stimulated by TGF β but inhibited by BMP7. Transgenic mice that express KCP in adult kidneys showed significantly less expression of collagen IV, α -smooth muscle actin, and other markers of disease progression in the unilateral ureteral obstruction model of renal interstitial fibrosis. In an acute tubular necrosis model, mice expressing KCP were more resistant to high doses of folic acid and showed better recovery at lower doses. The data demonstrates that extracellular regulation of the TGF β /BMP signaling axis by cysteine-rich domain proteins can reduce disease severity in animal models of renal injury (Soofi et al., 2013).

Recently, we examined the effects of KCP loss or gain of function in mice that were maintained on either a regular or a high-fat diet. Loss of KCP sensitized mice to obesity and associated complications such as hepatic steatosis and glucose intolerance. In contrast, transgenic mice that expressed KCP in the kidney, liver, and brown adipose tissues were resistant to developing high-fat diet induced obesity and had significantly reduced white adipose tissue. The data demonstrate that shifting the TGF β superfamily signaling with a secreted inhibitor or enhancer can alter the profile of adipose tissue to reduce obesity, and can inhibit the initiation, and progression of hepatic steatosis to significantly reduce the effects of high-fat diet induced metabolic disease (Soofi et al., 2016).

The analysis of the mechanisms and the regulation of TGF β superfamily will enable further insight into TGF β signaling and may provide new strategies for the treatment of TGF β associated diseases, such as renal fibrosis, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, obesity, and metabolic syndrome. Future understanding of the alterations in cellcell and cell-matrix interactions will prove crucial to deciphering the roles of TGF β and BMP7 during early and late phases of interstitial fibrosis. An understanding of how the extracellular regulators of latent TGF β and BMP7 affect the competition between these opposing signals will provide important insights into the progression of chronic disease and perhaps provide new avenues of intervention.

III. b. Thesis Reflection and Future Direction

III.b.1. The 'how I would do the experiments differently now' question

All work in this thesis has been peer-reviewed and published in quality Journals. That said, any published work is far from being 100% perfect, and we learn something new on a daily basis. Every day, we do and should become better at what we do. Today I will attempt to discuss some experiments and techniques, and how we may perform them differently. Some of these observations were also made by the examiners, Dr. Paul Winyard and Dr. Peter Hohenstein.

First, we should ensure that all mice and ES cells that are used to inject the targeting vector to generate transgenic or KO mice have the same pure genetic background before carrying out any experiments. To guarantee this, we could make it a general requirement for all future experiments. Furthermore, it is important to note that concepts that may seem logical to us may require a thorough explanation to readers in order to make sense, even if the Journal Peer Reviewers pass it. Indeed, to describe in more details each technique and methods.

Paper 1- Soofi, A., Levitan, I., and Dressler, G.R. (2012). Two novel EGFP insertion alleles reveal unique aspects of Pax2 function in embryonic and adult kidneys. Developmental Biology 365, 241-250.

Figure 1. Section B, we decided not to show a blot of a negative egfp/egfp (Pax2 mutant), even though there is no Pax2 expression. The internal control (Tubulin) could indicate that they are in the blot.

Figure 3. We should have specified if we were comparing littermates to each other or gene expression independent of the phenotype. It may have been better to compare the different gene expression in the similar phenotype of the Pax2 Eneo/Eneo E11-11,5 embryonic kidneys.

Figure 6. Sections E-F, if we were going to talk about cell planar polarity we should have used better polarity markers.

Paper 2- Soofi, A., Zhang, P., and Dressler, G.R. (2013). Kielin/chordin-like protein attenuates both acute and chronic renal injury. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 24, 897-905

Figure 2. Section A, to confirm that indeed Myc-KCP is localized to the ER compartment in the epithelial cells; we should have co-stained cells with ER markers and markers of other cell compartments as control. For example, we could use Golgi or mitochondrial markers as the negative compartments for the Myc-KCP expression.

Figure 6. Section D, we should have blotted for the total protein Smad3 and Smad1 to normalized the p-Proteins and determine the ratio of the relative unit for each protein. Furthermore, we could also measure Creatinine and the blood urea nitrogen (BUN) as a secondary indication of kidney damage.

Paper 3- Soofi, A., Wolf, K.I., Ranghini, E.J., Amin, M.A., and Dressler, G.R. (2016). The kielin/chordin-like protein KCP attenuates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. American journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 311, G587-G598.

Even though the 5008 Purina lab chow used in the animal facilities were the same for all animal groups, we and others should not utilize it as control diet to the high-fat diet (HFD). The ND 5008 Purina lab chow has many different basic nutrients in comparison to the HFD D12451 from Research Diet Inc. Practice must change in future experiments.

Paper 4- Soofi, A., Wolf, K.I., Emont, M.P., Qi, N., Martinez-Santibanez, G., Grimley, E., Ostwani, W., and Dressler, G.R. (2017). The kielin/chordin-like protein (KCP) attenuates high-fat diet-induced obesity and metabolic syndrome in mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry 292, 9051-9062.

Even though intensive work was done in this project addressing the effect of normal, gain and loss of KCP in white and brown adipocyte tissue, very little was done about other fat depots, such as the subcutaneous fat tissue (Soofi et al., 2017). Experiments will be seriously considered for future projects in this field, yet it is difficult to cover all in one study.

III. b. 2. Further experiments based on this thesis

The Pax2 project provides new insight into the role of Pax2 in determining the correct renal architecture and cell fate. These new Pax2 alleles are valuable genetic reagents for further research on urogenital development, disease and future use of Pax2 as a therapeutic target. Both of these novel Pax2 alleles are useful for cell imaging, whereas the new Pax2 hypomorphic allele is also a good mouse model that mimics multiple aspects of CAKUT. Our lab has recently (Ranghini and Dressler, 2015) used the Pax2egfp knock-in allele of Pax2. They identified and sorted cells of the intermediate mesodermal lineage, and compared gene expression patterns in egfp positive cells that were heterozygous (Pax2-egfp/+) or homozygous null for Pax2 (Pax2-egfp/egfp). Thus, we identified critical regulators of intermediate mesoderm and kidney development whose expression depended on Pax2 function. In cell culture models, Pax2 is thought to recruit epigenetic modifying complex to imprint activating histone methylation marks through interactions with the adaptor protein PTIP, a project we are following up with in vivo studies. In Pax2 mutants, a set of genes was also identified whose expression was up-regulated in egfp positive cells and whose expression was consistent with a cell fate transformation to paraxial mesoderm and its derivatives. These data provide evidence that Pax2 specifies the intermediate mesoderm and renal epithelial cells through epigenetic mechanisms and in part by repressing paraxial mesodermal fate. We are

interested in continuing these studies using the combination of the Pax2-egfp alleles and the new made Pax2 conditional KO mice in kidney development as well as in adult kidney regeneration after injury. Another recent publication from our lab by Gerimely E etal., 2017 used the Pax2-egfp mice as an important model to report that Pax proteins are re-expressed or ectopically expressed in cancer and other diseases of abnormal proliferation, making them attractive targets (Grimley et al., 2017). This new data confirms that small molecules targeting the DNA binding paired domain can be identified and may be good lead compounds for developing tissue and cell-type specific anticancer therapies. We will be focusing on future experiments in pursuing the role of Pax2 in Kidney development, kidney disease, and regeneration, as well as the role Pax2 plays in other organs like the female and male reproductive system.

Given the critical roles for TGF β and BMP proteins in enhancing or suppressing renal interstitial fibrosis, respectively, and the recently established link of the TGF β /Smads axis to NAFLD, fibrosis, and HFD-induced obesity, our works confirm that regulating TGF β signaling through the extracellular proteins that inhibit or enhance receptor/ligand interactions is a viable strategy to attenuate both hepatic steatosis and its long-term effects, such as liver fibrosis and other metabolic disorders. These secreted regulatory proteins may prove to be valuable tools to study liver metabolism, pathology and obesity-related complications in animal models. Acute kidney injury (AKI) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) are among the most common, costly and deadly disease in the USA, and we are committed to keep working on new projects using the knowledge and models developed in this work, using mice that have different gene mutations or small molecules that mimic the effects of the KCP protein to attenuate both AKI and CKD. This work helps people get further insight into the TGF β signaling pathway and may provide new clues for the medical treatment of TGF β associated diseases, such as renal fibrosis, NAFLD, metabolic syndrome, and cancer.

List of References

Including text of the thesis and all publications

Abrass, C.K. (2004). Overview: obesity: what does it have to do with kidney disease? Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *15*, 2768-2772.

Abreu, J.G., Ketpura, N.I., Reversade, B., and De Robertis, E.M. (2002). Connective-tissue growth factor (CTGF) modulates cell signalling by BMP and TGF-beta. Nature Cell Biology *4*, 599-604.

Ahima, R.S., and Lazar, M.A. (2008). Adipokines and the peripheral and neural control of energy balance. Molecular Endocrinology *22*, 1023-1031.

Ahima, R.S., and Lazar, M.A. (2013). Physiology. The health risk of obesity--better metrics imperative. Science *341*, 856-858.

Al-Awqati, Q., and Gao, X.B. (2011). Differentiation of intercalated cells in the kidney. Physiology (Bethesda) *26*, 266-272.

Almind, K., Manieri, M., Sivitz, W.I., Cinti, S., and Kahn, C.R. (2007). Ectopic brown adipose tissue in muscle provides a mechanism for differences in risk of metabolic syndrome in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *104*, 2366-2371.

Amiel, J., Audollent, S., Joly, D., Dureau, P., Salomon, R., Tellier, A.L., Auge, J., Bouissou, F., Antignac, C., Gubler, M.C., *et al.* (2000). PAX2 mutations in renal-coloboma syndrome: mutational hotspot and germline mosaicism. European Journal of Human Genetics *8*, 820-826.

Annes, J.P., Munger, J.S., and Rifkin, D.B. (2003). Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. Journal Cell Scince *116*, 217-224.

Arbeeny, C.M., Meyers, D.S., Hillyer, D.E., and Bergquist, K.E. (1995). Metabolic alterations associated with the antidiabetic effect of beta 3-adrenergic receptor agonists in obese mice. American Journal of Physiology *268*, E678-684.

Asrih, M., and Jornayvaz, F.R. (2015). Metabolic syndrome and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Is insulin resistance the link? Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 15;418 Pt 1:55-65.

Assoian, R.K., Komoriya, A., Meyers, C.A., Miller, D.M., and Sporn, M.B. (1983). Transforming growth factor-beta in human platelets. Identification of a major storage site, purification, and characterization. Journal of Biological Chemistry *258*, 7155-7160.

Banks, A.S., McAllister, F.E., Camporez, J.P., Zushin, P.J., Jurczak, M.J., Laznik-Bogoslavski, D., Shulman, G.I., Gygi, S.P., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2015). An ERK/Cdk5 axis controls the diabetogenic actions of PPARgamma. Nature *517*, 391-395.

Bartelt, A., Bruns, O.T., Reimer, R., Hohenberg, H., Ittrich, H., Peldschus, K., Kaul, M.G., Tromsdorf, U.I., Weller, H., Waurisch, C., *et al.* (2011). Brown adipose tissue activity controls triglyceride clearance. Nature Medicine *17*, 200-205.

Basson, M.A., Akbulut, S., Watson-Johnson, J., Simon, R., Carroll, T.J., Shakya, R., Gross, I., Martin, G.R., Lufkin, T., McMahon, A.P., *et al.* (2005). Sprouty1 is a critical regulator of GDNF/RET-mediated kidney induction. Developemntal Cell *8*, 229-239.

Basson, M.A., Watson-Johnson, J., Shakya, R., Akbulut, S., Hyink, D., Costantini, F.D., Wilson, P.D., Mason, I.J., and Licht, J.D. (2006). Branching morphogenesis of the ureteric epithelium during kidney development is coordinated by the opposing functions of GDNF and Sprouty1. Developmental Biology *299*, 466-477.

Berry, R., Jeffery, E., and Rodeheffer, M.S. (2014). Weighing in on adipocyte precursors. Cell Metabolism 19, 8-20.

Berry, R., and Rodeheffer, M.S. (2013). Characterization of the adipocyte cellular lineage in vivo. Nature Cell Biology *15*, 302-308.

Blake, J., and Rosenblum, N.D. (2014). Renal branching morphogenesis: Morphogenetic and signaling mechanisms. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 36, 2-12. Bonventre, J.V., and Yang, L. (2010). Kidney injury molecule-1. Current Opinion Critical Care 16 (6) 556-61.

Border, W.A., Okuda, S., Languino, L.R., Sporn, M.B., and Ruoslahti, E. (1990). Suppression of experimental glomerulonephritis by antiserum against transforming growth factor beta 1. Nature *346*, 371-374.

Bottinger, E.P., and Bitzer, M. (2002). TGF-beta Signaling in Renal Disease. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *13*, 2600-2610.

Boualia, S.K., Gaitan, Y., Tremblay, M., Sharma, R., Cardin, J., Kania, A., and Bouchard, M. (2013). A core transcriptional network composed of Pax2/8, Gata3 and Lim1 regulates key players of pro/mesonephros morphogenesis. Developmental Biology *382*, 555-566.

Bouchard, M., Pfeffer, P., and Busslinger, M. (2000). Functional equivalence of the transcription factors Pax2 and Pax5 in mouse development. Development *127*, 3703-3713.

Bouchard, M., Souabni, A., Mandler, M., Neubuser, A., and Busslinger, M. (2002). Nephric lineage specification by Pax2 and Pax8. Genes & Development *16*, 2958-2970.

Boutet, A., De Frutos, C.A., Maxwell, P.H., Mayol, M.J., Romero, J., and Nieto, M.A. (2006). Snail activation disrupts tissue homeostasis and induces fibrosis in the adult kidney. EMBO Journal *25*, 5603-5613.

Brophy, P.D., Lang, K.M., and Dressler, G.R. (2003). The secreted frizzled related protein 2 (SFRP2) gene is a target of the Pax2 transcription factor. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278, 52401-52405.

Brophy, P.D., Ostrom, L., Lang, K.M., and Dressler, G.R. (2001). Regulation of ureteric bud outgrowth by Pax2-dependent activation of the glial derived neurotrophic factor gene. Development *128*, 4747-4756.

Buisson, I., Le Bouffant, R., Futel, M., Riou, J.F., and Umbhauer, M. (2015). Pax8 and Pax2 are specifically required at different steps of Xenopus pronephros development. Developmental Biology *397*, 175-190.

Bush, K.T., Sakurai, H., Steer, D.L., Leonard, M.O., Sampogna, R.V., Meyer, T.N., Schwesinger, C., Qiao, J., and Nigam, S.K. (2004). TGF-beta superfamily members modulate growth, branching, shaping, and patterning of the ureteric bud. Developmental Biology *266*, 285-298.

Buzzetti, E., Pinzani, M., and Tsochatzis, E.A. (2016). The multiple-hit pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Metabolism *65*, 1038-1048.

Cai, Q., Dmitrieva, N.I., Ferraris, J.D., Brooks, H.L., van Balkom, B.W., and Burg, M. (2005). Pax2 expression occurs in renal medullary epithelial cells in vivo and in cell culture, is osmoregulated, and promotes osmotic tolerance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *102*, 503-508.

Cai, Y., Lechner, M.S., Nihalani, D., Prindle, M.J., Holzman, L.B., and Dressler, G.R. (2002). Phosphorylation of Pax2 by the c-Jun N-terminal kinase and enhanced Pax2-dependent transcription activation. Journal of Biological Chemistry *277*, 1217-1222.

Cannon, B., and Nedergaard, J. (2004). Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. Physiological Reviews 84, 277-359.

Capdevila, J., and Belmonte, J.C. (1999). Extracellular modulation of the Hedgehog, Wnt and TGF-beta signalling pathways during embryonic development. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *9*, 427-433.

Carroll, T.J., Park, J.S., Hayashi, S., Majumdar, A., and McMahon, A.P. (2005). Wnt9b plays a central role in the regulation of mesenchymal to epithelial transitions underlying organogenesis of the mammalian urogenital system. Developmental Cell *9*, 283-292.

Carroll, T.J., and Vize, P.D. (1999). Synergism between Pax-8 and lim-1 in embryonic kidney development. Developmental Biology 214, 46-59.

Cassuto, H., Olswang, Y., Heinemann, S., Sabbagh, K., Hanson, R.W., and Reshef, L. (2003). The transcriptional regulation of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene in the kidney requires the HNF-1 binding site of the gene. Gene *318*, 177-184.

Chen, J., Aronow, B.J., and Jegga, A.G. (2009a). Disease candidate gene identification and prioritization using protein interaction networks. BMC bioinformatics *10*-73.

Chen, J., Bardes, E.E., Aronow, B.J., and Jegga, A.G. (2009b). ToppGene Suite for gene list enrichment analysis and candidate gene prioritization. Nucleic Acids Research *37*, W305-311.

Chen, J., Muntner, P., Hamm, L.L., Jones, D.W., Batuman, V., Fonseca, V., Whelton, P.K., and He, J. (2004). The metabolic syndrome and chronic kidney disease in U.S. adults. Annals of internal medicine *140*, 167-174.

Chi, N., and Epstein, J.A. (2002). Getting your Pax straight: Pax proteins in development and disease. Trends Genetics 18, 41-47.

Chi, X., Michos, O., Shakya, R., Riccio, P., Enomoto, H., Licht, J.D., Asai, N., Takahashi, M., Ohgami, N., Kato, M., *et al.* (2009). Ret-dependent cell rearrangements in the Wolffian duct epithelium initiate ureteric bud morphogenesis. Development Cell *17*, 199-209.

Chia, I., Grote, D., Marcotte, M., Batourina, E., Mendelsohn, C., and Bouchard, M. (2011). Nephric duct insertion is a crucial step in urinary tract maturation that is regulated by a Gata3-Raldh2-Ret molecular network in mice. Development *138*, 2089-2097.

Christian, J.L. (2000). BMP, Wnt and Hedgehog signals: how far can they go? Current Opinions Cell Biolology *12*, 244-249.

Cirio, M.C., de Groh, E.D., de Caestecker, M.P., Davidson, A.J., and Hukriede, N.A. (2014). Kidney regeneration: common themes from the embryo to the adult. Pediatric Nephrololgy *29*, 553-564.

Clarke, J.C., Patel, S.R., Raymond, R.M., Jr., Andrew, S., Robinson, B.G., Dressler, G.R., and Brophy, P.D. (2006). Regulation of c-Ret in the developing kidney is responsive to Pax2 gene dosage. Human Molecular Genetics.

Cousin, B., Cinti, S., Morroni, M., Raimbault, S., Ricquier, D., Penicaud, L., and Casteilla, L. (1992). Occurrence of brown adipocytes in rat white adipose tissue: molecular and morphological characterization. Journal of Cell Science *103 (Pt 4)*, 931-942.

Cross, S.H., McKie, L., West, K., Coghill, E.L., Favor, J., Bhattacharya, S., Brown, S.D., and Jackson, I.J. (2011). The Opdc missense mutation of Pax2 has a milder than loss-of-function phenotype. Human Molecular Genetics *20*, 223-234.

Curthoys, N.P., and Gstraunthaler, G. (2001). Mechanism of increased renal gene expression during metabolic acidosis. American Journal Physiology Renal-Physiology *281*, F381-390.

Cypess, A.M., Lehman, S., Williams, G., Tal, I., Rodman, D., Goldfine, A.B., Kuo, F.C., Palmer, E.L., Tseng, Y.H., Doria, A., *et al.* (2009). Identification and importance of brown adipose tissue in adult humans. New England Journal of Medicine *360*, 1509-1517.

Dahl, E., Koseki, H., and Balling, R. (1997). Pax genes and organogenesis. Bioessays 19, 755-765.

de Miranda, D.M., Dos Santos Junior, A.C., Dos Reis, G.S., Freitas, I.S., Carvalho, T.G., de Marco, L.A., Oliveira, E.A., and Simoes, E.S.A.C. (2014). PAX2 polymorphisms and congenital abnormalities of the kidney and urinary tract in a Brazilian pediatric population: evidence for a role in vesicoureteral reflux. Molecular Diagnosis & Therapy *18*, 451-457.

Dehbi, M., Ghahremani, M., Lechner, M., Dressler, G., and Pelletier, J. (1996). The paired-box transcription factor, PAX2, positively modulates expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (WT1). Oncogene *13*, 447-453.

Derynck, R., and Zhang, Y.E. (2003). Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling. Nature *425*, 577-584.

Divoux, A., and Clement, K. (2011). Architecture and the extracellular matrix: the still unappreciated components of the adipose tissue. Obesity reviews : an Official Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity *12*, e494-503.

Donath, M.Y., and Shoelson, S.E. (2011). Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nature reviews Immunology 11, 98-107.

Dooley, S., and ten Dijke, P. (2012). TGF-beta in progression of liver disease. Cell and Tissue Research *347*, 245-256.

Doria, A., Patti, M.E., and Kahn, C.R. (2008). The emerging genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes. Cell Metabolism *8*, 186-200.

Dressler, G.R. (2006). The cellular basis of kidney development. Annual Review Cell and Developmental Biology 22, 509-529.

Dressler, G.R. (2009). Advances in early kidney specification, development and patterning. Development 136, 3863-3874.

Dressler, G.R. (2011). Patterning and early cell lineage decisions in the developing kidney: the role of Pax genes. Pediatric Nephrology *26*, 1387-1394.

Dressler, G.R., Deutsch, U., Chowdhury, K., Nornes, H.O., and Gruss, P. (1990). Pax2, a new murine paired-box-containing gene and its expression in the developing excretory system. Development *109*, 787-795.

Dressler, G.R., and Douglass, E.C. (1992). *Pax-2* is a DNA-binding protein expressed in embryonic kidney and Wilms tumor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *89*, 1179-1183.

Dressler, G.R., Wilkinson, J.E., Rothenpieler, U.W., Patterson, L.T., Williams-Simons, L., and Westphal, H. (1993). Deregulation of Pax-2 expression in transgenic mice generates severe kidney abnormalities. Nature *362*, 65-67.

Dudley, A.T., Lyons, K.M., and Robertson, E.J. (1995). A requirement for bone morphogenetic protein-7 during development of the mammalian kidney and eye. Genes Development *9*, 2795-2807.

Dupont, S., Mamidi, A., Cordenonsi, M., Montagner, M., Zacchigna, L., Adorno, M., Martello, G., Stinchfield, M.J., Soligo, S., Morsut, L., *et al.* (2009). FAM/USP9x, a deubiquitinating enzyme essential for TGFbeta signaling, controls Smad4 monoubiquitination. Cell *136*, 123-135.

Eccles, M.R., and Schimmenti, L.A. (1999). Renal-coloboma syndrome: a multisystem developmental disorder caused by PAX2 mutations. Clinical Genetics 56, 1-9.

Eckel, R.H., Grundy, S.M., and Zimmet, P.Z. (2005). The metabolic syndrome. Lancet 365, 1415-1428.

Eddy, A.A. (1996). Molecular insights into renal interstitial fibrosis. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 7, 2495-2508.

Emont, M.P., Yu, H., Jun, H., Hong, X., Maganti, N., Stegemann, J.P., and Wu, J. (2015). Using a 3D Culture System to Differentiate Visceral Adipocytes In Vitro. Endocrinology *156*, 4761-4768.

Esquela, A.F., and Lee, S.J. (2003). Regulation of metanephric kidney development by growth/differentiation factor 11. Developmental Biology *257*, 356-370.

Faria, A., and Persaud, S.J. (2017). Cardiac oxidative stress in diabetes: Mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Pharmacology Therapy *172*, 50-62.

Favor, J., Sandulache, R., Neuhauser-Klaus, A., Pretsch, W., Chatterjee, B., Senft, E., Wurst, W., Blanquet, V., Grimes, P., Sporle, R., *et al.* (1996). The mouse Pax2(1Neu) mutation is identical to a human PAX2 mutation in a family with renal-coloboma syndrome and results in developmental defects of the brain, ear, eye, and kidney. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *93*, 13870-13875.

Feng, X.H., and Derynck, R. (2005). Specificity and versatility in tgf-beta signaling through Smads. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology *21*, 659-693.

Feng, X.H., Zhang, Y., Wu, R.Y., and Derynck, R. (1998). The tumor suppressor Smad4/DPC4 and transcriptional adaptor CBP/p300 are coactivators for smad3 in TGF-beta-induced transcriptional activation. Genes & Development *12*, 2153-2163.

Ferrannini, E. (1988). The theoretical bases of indirect calorimetry: a review. Metabolism *37*, 287-301.

Flanders, K.C. (2004). Smad3 as a mediator of the fibrotic response. International Journal of Experimental Pathology *85*, 47-64.

Fletcher, J., Hu, M., Berman, Y., Collins, F., Grigg, J., McIver, M., Juppner, H., and Alexander, S.I. (2005). Multicystic dysplastic kidney and variable phenotype in a family with a novel deletion mutation of PAX2. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *16*, 2754-2761.

Fogo, A.B. (2000). Pathology of progressive nephropathies. Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension 9, 241-246.

Forbes, J.M., Hewitson, T.D., Becker, G.J., and Jones, C.L. (2000). Ischemic acute renal failure: long-term histology of cell and matrix changes in the rat. Kidney International *57*, 2375-2385.

Garcia Abreu, J., Coffinier, C., Larrain, J., Oelgeschlager, M., and De Robertis, E.M. (2002). Chordin-like CR domains and the regulation of evolutionarily conserved extracellular signaling systems. Gene *287*, 39-47.

Gesta, S., Tseng, Y.H., and Kahn, C.R. (2007). Developmental origin of fat: tracking obesity to its source. Cell 131, 242-256.

Gewin, L., and Zent, R. (2012). How Does TGF-beta Mediate Tubulointerstitial Fibrosis? Seminars in Nephrology *32*, 228-235.

Gnarra, J.R., and Dressler, G.R. (1995). Expression of Pax-2 in human renal cell carcinoma and growth inhibition by antisense oligonucleotides. Cancer Research *55*, 4092-4098.

Grande, J.P. (1997). Role of transforming growth factor-beta in tissue injury and repair. Proceeding the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 214, 27-40.

Gressner, A.M., and Bachem, M.G. (1995). Molecular mechanisms of liver fibrogenesis--a homage to the role of activated fat-storing cells. Digestion *56*, 335-346.

Gressner, O.A., and Gao, C. (2014). Monitoring fibrogenic progression in the liver. Clinica Chimica Acta; International Journal of Clinical Chemistry *433C*, 111-122.

Grgic, I., Campanholle, G., Bijol, V., Wang, C., Sabbisetti, V.S., Ichimura, T., Humphreys, B.D., and Bonventre, J.V. (2012). Targeted proximal tubule injury triggers interstitial fibrosis and glomerulosclerosis. Kidney International *82*, 172-183.

Grimley, E., Liao, C., Ranghini, E.J., Nikolovska-Coleska, Z., and Dressler, G.R. (2017). Inhibition of Pax2 Transcription Activation with a Small Molecule that Targets the DNA Binding Domain. ACS Chemical Biology *12*, 724-734.

Groppe, J., Greenwald, J., Wiater, E., Rodriguez-Leon, J., Economides, A.N., Kwiatkowski, W., Affolter, M., Vale, W.W., Belmonte, J.C., and Choe, S. (2002).

Structural basis of BMP signalling inhibition by the cystine knot protein Noggin. Nature *420*, 636-642.

Grote, D., Boualia, S.K., Souabni, A., Merkel, C., Chi, X., Costantini, F., Carroll, T., and Bouchard, M. (2008). Gata3 acts downstream of beta-catenin signaling to prevent ectopic metanephric kidney induction. PLoS Genet *4*, e1000316.

Grote, D., Souabni, A., Busslinger, M., and Bouchard, M. (2006). Pax 2/8-regulated Gata 3 expression is necessary for morphogenesis and guidance of the nephric duct in the developing kidney. Development *133*, 53-61.

Gumienny, T.L., and Padgett, R.W. (2002). The other side of TGF-beta superfamily signal regulation: thinking outside the cell. Trends Endocrinol Metabolism *13*, 295-299.

Gupta, R.K., Arany, Z., Seale, P., Mepani, R.J., Ye, L., Conroe, H.M., Roby, Y.A., Kulaga, H., Reed, R.R., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2010). Transcriptional control of preadipocyte determination by Zfp423. Nature *464*, 619-623.

Harris, R.C., and Neilson, E.G. (2006). Toward a unified theory of renal progression. Annual Review Medicine *57*, 365-380.

Hayashi, H., Abdollah, S., Qiu, Y., Cai, J., Xu, Y.Y., Grinnell, B.W., Richardson, M.A., Topper, J.N., Gimbrone, M.A., Jr., Wrana, J.L., *et al.* (1997). The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGFbeta receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFbeta signaling. Cell *89*, 1165-1173.

Huminiecki, L., Goldovsky, L., Freilich, S., Moustakas, A., Ouzounis, C., and Heldin, C.H. (2009). Emergence, development and diversification of the TGF-beta signalling pathway within the animal kingdom. BMC Evolutionary Biology *9*, 28.

Humphreys, B.D., Valerius, M.T., Kobayashi, A., Mugford, J.W., Soeung, S., Duffield, J.S., McMahon, A.P., and Bonventre, J.V. (2008). Intrinsic epithelial cells repair the kidney after injury. Cell Stem Cell *2*, 284-291.

Hwang, D.Y., Dworschak, G.C., Kohl, S., Saisawat, P., Vivante, A., Hilger, A.C., Reutter, H.M., Soliman, N.A., Bogdanovic, R., Kehinde, E.O., *et al.* (2014). Mutations in 12 known dominant disease-causing genes clarify many congenital anomalies of the kidney and urinary tract. Kidney International *85*, 1429-1433.

Hyytiainen, M., Penttinen, C., and Keski-Oja, J. (2004). Latent TGF-beta binding proteins: extracellular matrix association and roles in TGF-beta activation. Critical Review Clinical Laboratory Science *41*, 233-264.

Ikeya, M., Kawada, M., Kiyonari, H., Sasai, N., Nakao, K., Furuta, Y., and Sasai, Y. (2006). Essential pro-Bmp roles of crossveinless 2 in mouse organogenesis. Development *133*, 4463-4473.

Imamura, T., Takase, M., Nishihara, A., Oeda, E., Hanai, J., Kawabata, M., and Miyazono, K. (1997). Smad6 inhibits signalling by the TGF-beta superfamily. Nature *389*, 622-626.

Imgrund, M., Grone, E., Grone, H.J., Kretzler, M., Holzman, L., Schlondorff, D., and Rothenpieler, U.W. (1999). Re-expression of the developmental gene Pax-2 during experimental acute tubular necrosis in mice 1. Kidney International *56*, 1423-1431.

Inazaki, K., Kanamaru, Y., Kojima, Y., Sueyoshi, N., Okumura, K., Kaneko, K., Yamashiro, Y., Ogawa, H., and Nakao, A. (2004). Smad3 deficiency attenuates renal fibrosis, inflammation, and apoptosis after unilateral ureteral obstruction. Kidney International *66*, 597-604.

Irizarry, R.A., Wu, Z., and Jaffee, H.A. (2006). Comparison of Affymetrix GeneChip expression measures. Bioinformatics *22*, 789-794.

Ito, Y., Goldschmeding, R., Kasuga, H., Claessen, N., Nakayama, M., Yuzawa, Y., Sawai, A., Matsuo, S., Weening, J.J., and Aten, J. (2010). Expression patterns of connective tissue growth factor and of TGF-beta isoforms during glomerular injury recapitulate glomerulogenesis. American Journal Physiology Renal-Physiology *299*, F545-558.

Itoh, S., Ericsson, J., Nishikawa, J., Heldin, C.H., and ten Dijke, P. (2000). The transcriptional co-activator P/CAF potentiates TGF-beta/Smad signaling. Nucleic Acids Research 28, 4291-4298.

James, R.G., and Schultheiss, T.M. (2003). Patterning of the avian intermediate mesoderm by lateral plate and axial tissues. Developmental Biology *253*, 109-124.

James, R.G., and Schultheiss, T.M. (2005). Bmp signaling promotes intermediate mesoderm gene expression in a dose-dependent, cell-autonomous and translation-dependent manner. Developmental Biology *288*, 113-125.

Kasuga, H., Ito, Y., Sakamoto, S., Kawachi, H., Shimizu, F., Yuzawa, Y., and Matsuo, S. (2001). Effects of anti-TGF-beta type II receptor antibody on experimental glomerulonephritis. Kidney International *60*, 1745-1755.

Kellenberger, T., Krag, S., Danielsen, C.C., Wang, X.F., Nyengaard, J.R., Pedersen, L., Yang, C., Gao, S., and Wogensen, L. (2013). Differential effects of Smad3 targeting in a murine model of chronic kidney disease. Physiological Reports *1*, e00181.

Keller, S.A., Jones, J.M., Boyle, A., Barrow, L.L., Killen, P.D., Green, D.G., Kapousta, N.V., Hitchcock, P.F., Swank, R.T., and Meisler, M.H. (1994). Kidney and retinal defects (Krd), a transgene-induced mutation with a deletion of mouse chromosome 19 that includes the Pax2 locus. Genomics *23*, 309-320.

Keophiphath, M., Achard, V., Henegar, C., Rouault, C., Clement, K., and Lacasa, D. (2009). Macrophage-secreted factors promote a profibrotic phenotype in human preadipocytes. Molecular Endocrinology *23*, 11-24.

Kim, D., Wang, M., Cai, Q., Brooks, H., and Dressler, G.R. (2007). Pax transactivation-domain interacting protein is required for urine concentration and osmotolerance in collecting duct epithelia. American Society of Nephrology *18*, 1458-1465.

Kobayashi, A., Kwan, K.M., Carroll, T.J., McMahon, A.P., Mendelsohn, C.L., and Behringer, R.R. (2005). Distinct and sequential tissue-specific activities of the LIM-class homeobox gene Lim1 for tubular morphogenesis during kidney development. Development *132*, 2809-2823.

Kobayashi, A., Valerius, M.T., Mugford, J.W., Carroll, T.J., Self, M., Oliver, G., and McMahon, A.P. (2008). Six2 defines and regulates a multipotent self-renewing nephron progenitor population throughout mammalian kidney development. Cell Stem Cell *3*, 169-181.

Kopp, J.B., Factor, V.M., Mozes, M., Nagy, P., Sanderson, N., Bottinger, E.P., Klotman, P.E., and Thorgeirsson, S.S. (1996). Transgenic mice with increased plasma levels of TGF-beta 1 develop progressive renal disease. Laboratory Investigation 74, 991-1003.

Kriz, W., Kaissling, B., and Le Hir, M. (2011). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in kidney fibrosis: fact or fantasy? Journal of Clinical Investigation *121*, 468-474.

Kuro, O.M., and Moe, O.W. (2016). FGF23-alphaKlotho as a paradigm for a kidney-bone network. Bone 100, 4-18.

Kusaba, T., Lalli, M., Kramann, R., Kobayashi, A., and Humphreys, B.D. (2014). Differentiated kidney epithelial cells repair injured proximal tubule. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *111*, 1527-1532.

Labbe, E., Letamendia, A., and Attisano, L. (2000). Association of Smads with lymphoid enhancer binding factor 1/T cell-specific factor mediates cooperative signaling by the transforming growth factor-beta and wnt pathways. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *97*, 8358-8363.

Larrain, J., Bachiller, D., Lu, B., Agius, E., Piccolo, S., and De Robertis, E.M. (2000). BMP-binding modules in chordin: a model for signalling regulation in the extracellular space. Development *127*, 821-830.

Ledbetter, S., Kurtzberg, L., Doyle, S., and Pratt, B.M. (2000). Renal fibrosis in mice treated with human recombinant transforming growth factor-beta2. Kidney International *58*, 2367-2376.

Lefevre, G.M., Patel, S.R., Kim, D., Tessarollo, L., and Dressler, G.R. (2010). Altering a histone H3K4 methylation pathway in glomerular podocytes promotes a chronic disease phenotype. PLoS Genetics *6*, e1001142.

Lin, F., Moran, A., and Igarashi, P. (2005). Intrarenal cells, not bone marrowderived cells, are the major source for regeneration in postischemic kidney. Journal of Clinical Investigation *115*, 1756-1764.

Lin, J., Patel, S.R., Cheng, X., Cho, E.A., Levitan, I., Ullenbruch, M., Phan, S.H., Park, J.M., and Dressler, G.R. (2005). Kielin/chordin-like protein, a novel enhancer of BMP signaling, attenuates renal fibrotic disease. Nature Medicine *11*, 387-393.

Lin, J., Patel, S.R., Wang, M., and Dressler, G.R. (2006). The cysteine-rich domain protein KCP is a suppressor of transforming growth factor beta/activin signaling in renal epithelia. Molecular and Cellular Biology *26*, 4577-4585.

Lindoso, R.S., Verdoorn, K.S., and Einicker-Lamas, M. (2009). Renal recovery after injury: the role of Pax-2. Nephrology Dial Transplant *24*, 2628-2633.

Liu, F., Ventura, F., Doody, J., and Massague, J. (1995). Human type II receptor for bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs): extension of the two-kinase receptor model to the BMPs. Molecular Cell Biology *15*, 3479-3486.

Liu, S., Cieslinski, D.A., Funke, A.J., and Humes, H.D. (1997). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 regulates the expression of Pax-2, a developmental control gene, in renal tubule cells. Experimental Nephrololgy *5*, 295-300.

Liu, Y. (2010). New insights into epithelial-mesenchymal transition in kidney fibrosis. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *21*, 212-222.

Lokmane, L., Heliot, C., Garcia-Villalba, P., Fabre, M., and Cereghini, S. (2010). vHNF1 functions in distinct regulatory circuits to control ureteric bud branching and early nephrogenesis. Development *137*, 347-357.

Lumeng, C.N., and Saltiel, A.R. (2011). Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. Journal of Clinical Investigation *121*, 2111-2117.

Luo, G., Hofmann, C., Bronckers, A.L.J.J., Sohocki, M., Bradley, A., and Karsenty, G. (1995). BMP-7 is an inducer of nephrogenesis, and is also required for eye development and skeletal patterning. Genes & Development *9*, 2808-2820.

Maeshima, A., Maeshima, K., Nojima, Y., and Kojima, I. (2002a). Involvement of Pax-2 in the action of activin A on tubular cell regeneration. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *13*, 2850-2859.

Maeshima, A., Nojima, Y., and Kojima, I. (2002b). Activin A: an autocrine regulator of cell growth and differentiation in renal proximal tubular cells. Kidney International *62*, 446-454.

Maeshima, A., Vaughn, D.A., Choi, Y., and Nigam, S.K. (2006). Activin A is an endogenous inhibitor of ureteric bud outgrowth from the Wolffian duct. Developmental Biololgy *295*, 473-485.

Maeshima, A., Zhang, Y.Q., Nojima, Y., Naruse, T., and Kojima, I. (2001). Involvement of the activin-follistatin system in tubular regeneration after renal ischemia in rats. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *12*, 1685-1695.

Majumdar, A., Lun, K., Brand, M., and Drummond, I.A. (2000). Zebrafish no isthmus reveals a role for pax2.1 in tubule differentiation and patterning events in the pronephric primordia. Development *127*, 2089-2098.

Makarova, O., Roh, M.H., Liu, C.J., Laurinec, S., and Margolis, B. (2003). Mammalian Crumbs3 is a small transmembrane protein linked to protein associated with Lin-7 (Pals1). Gene *302*, 21-29.

Manning, G., Whyte, D.B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T., and Sudarsanam, S. (2002). The protein kinase complement of the human genome. Science *298*, 1912-1934.

Mansouri, A., Chowdhury, K., and Gruss, P. (1998). Follicular cells of the thyroid gland require Pax8 gene function. Nature Genetics *19*, 87-90.

Marcotte, M., Sharma, R., and Bouchard, M. (2014). Gene regulatory network of renal primordium development. Pediatric Nephrology 29, 637-644.

Mari, C., and Winyard, P. (2015). Concise Review: Understanding the Renal Progenitor Cell Niche In Vivo to Recapitulate Nephrogenesis In Vitro. Stem Cells Translational Medicine *4*, 1463-1471.

Marti, H.P., Lee, L., Kashgarian, M., and Lovett, D.H. (1994). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 stimulates glomerular mesangial cell synthesis of the 72-kd type IV collagenase. American Journal of Pathology *144*, 82-94.

Martin, J., Steadman, R., Knowlden, J., Williams, J., and Davies, M. (1998). Differential regulation of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in human glomerular epithelial cells in vitro. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *9*, 1629-1637.

Martinovic-Bouriel, J., Benachi, A., Bonniere, M., Brahimi, N., Esculpavit, C., Morichon, N., Vekemans, M., Antignac, C., Salomon, R., Encha-Razavi, F., *et al.* (2010). PAX2 mutations in fetal renal hypodysplasia. American Journal of Medical Genetics A *152A*, 830-835.

Massague, J. (1998). TGF-beta signal transduction. Annual Review Biochemistry 67, 753-791.

Massague, J. (2008). TGFbeta in Cancer. Cell 134, 215-230.

Massague, J. (2012). TGFbeta signalling in context. Nature Review Molecular Cell Biology *13*, 616-630.

Massague, J., and Chen, Y.G. (2000). Controlling TGF-beta signaling. Genes & Development 14, 627-644.

Matsui, M., Mizuseki, K., Nakatani, J., Nakanishi, S., and Sasai, Y. (2000). Xenopus kielin: A dorsalizing factor containing multiple chordin-type repeats secreted from the embryonic midline. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *97*, 5291-5296.

Mauch, T.J., Yang, G., Wright, M., Smith, D., and Schoenwolf, G.C. (2000). Signals from trunk paraxial mesoderm induce pronephros formation in chick intermediate mesoderm. Developmental Biology *220*, 62-75.

McMahon, A.P. (2016). Development of the Mammalian Kidney. Current Topics in Developmental Biology 117, 31-64.

McManus, S., Ebert, A., Salvagiotto, G., Medvedovic, J., Sun, Q., Tamir, I., Jaritz, M., Tagoh, H., and Busslinger, M. (2011). The transcription factor Pax5 regulates its target genes by recruiting chromatin-modifying proteins in committed B cells. EMBO Journal *30*, 2388-2404.

Michos, O., Cebrian, C., Hyink, D., Grieshammer, U., Williams, L., D'Agati, V., Licht, J.D., Martin, G.R., and Costantini, F. (2010). Kidney development in the absence of Gdnf and Spry1 requires Fgf10. PLoS Genetics *6*, e1000809.

Michos, O., Goncalves, A., Lopez-Rios, J., Tiecke, E., Naillat, F., Beier, K., Galli, A., Vainio, S., and Zeller, R. (2007). Reduction of BMP4 activity by gremlin 1 enables ureteric bud outgrowth and GDNF/WNT11 feedback signalling during kidney branching morphogenesis. Development *134*, 2397-2405.

Miner, J.H. (2011). Organogenesis of the kidney glomerulus: focus on the glomerular basement membrane. Organogenesis 7, 75-82.

Mittal, S., Sada, Y.H., El-Serag, H.B., Kanwal, F., Duan, Z., Temple, S., May, S.B., Kramer, J.R., Richardson, P.A., and Davila, J.A. (2015). Temporal trends of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-related hepatocellular carcinoma in the veteran affairs population. Clinical gastroenterology and hepatology : the official clinical practice Journal of the American Gastroenterological Association *13*, 594-601 e591.

Morinaga, H., Mayoral, R., Heinrichsdorff, J., Osborn, O., Franck, N., Hah, N., Walenta, E., Bandyopadhyay, G., Pessentheiner, A.R., Chi, T.J., *et al.* (2015). Characterization of distinct subpopulations of hepatic macrophages in HFD/obese mice. Diabetes *64*, 1120-1130.

Moustakas, A., and Heldin, C.H. (2009). The regulation of TGFbeta signal transduction. Development *136*, 3699-3714.

Mugford, J.W., Sipila, P., Kobayashi, A., Behringer, R.R., and McMahon, A.P. (2008a). Hoxd11 specifies a program of metanephric kidney development within the intermediate mesoderm of the mouse embryo. Developmental Biology *319*, 396-405.

Mugford, J.W., Sipila, P., McMahon, J.A., and McMahon, A.P. (2008b). Osr1 expression demarcates a multi-potent population of intermediate mesoderm that undergoes progressive restriction to an Osr1-dependent nephron progenitor compartment within the mammalian kidney. Developmental Biology *324*, 88-98.

Nakamura, T., Takio, K., Eto, Y., Shibai, H., Titani, K., and Sugino, H. (1990). Activin-binding protein from rat ovary is follistatin. Science 247, 836-838.

Nishimura, R., Hata, K., Ikeda, F., Matsubara, T., Yamashita, K., Ichida, F., and Yoneda, T. (2003). The role of Smads in BMP signaling. Frontiers in Bioscience *8*, s275-284.

Obara-Ishihara, T., Kuhlman, J., Niswander, L., and Herzlinger, D. (1999). The surface ectoderm is essential for nephric duct formation in intermediate mesoderm. Development *126*, 1103-1108.

Ogden, C.L., Carroll, M.D., Kit, B.K., and Flegal, K.M. (2013). Prevalence of obesity among adults: United States, 2011-2012. NCHS Data Briefs, 1-8.

Ostrom, L., Tang, M.J., Gruss, P., and Dressler, G.R. (2000). Reduced Pax2 gene dosage increases apoptosis and slows the progression of renal cystic disease. Developmental Biology *219*, 250-258.

Oxburgh, L., Chu, G.C., Michael, S.K., and Robertson, E.J. (2004). TGFbeta superfamily signals are required for morphogenesis of the kidney mesenchyme progenitor population. Development *131*, 4593-4605.

Palatini, P. (2012). Glomerular hyperfiltration: a marker of early renal damage in pre-diabetes and pre-hypertension. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 27, 1708-1714.

Patel, S.R., Bhumbra, S.S., Paknikar, R.S., and Dressler, G.R. (2012). Epigenetic mechanisms of Groucho/Grg/TLE mediated transcriptional repression. Molecular Cell 45, 185-195.

Patel, S.R., and Dressler, G.R. (2005). BMP7 signaling in renal development and disease. Trends in Molecular Medicine 11, 512-518.

Patel, S.R., Kim, D., Levitan, I., and Dressler, G.R. (2007). The BRCT-domain containing protein PTIP links PAX2 to a histone H3, lysine 4 methyltransferase complex. Developmental Cell *13*, 580-592.

Patel, Y.M., Yun, J.S., Liu, J., McGrane, M.M., and Hanson, R.W. (1994). An analysis of regulatory elements in the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (GTP) gene which are responsible for its tissue-specific expression and metabolic control in transgenic mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry *269*, 5619-5628.

Patterson, G.I., and Padgett, R.W. (2000). TGF beta-related pathways. Roles in Caenorhabditis elegans development. Trends in Genetics : TIG 16, 27-33.

Pearce, D., Soundararajan, R., Trimpert, C., Kashlan, O.B., Deen, P.M., and Kohan, D.E. (2015). Collecting duct principal cell transport processes and their regulation. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *10*, 135-146.

Peirce, V., Carobbio, S., and Vidal-Puig, A. (2014). The different shades of fat. Nature 510, 76-83.

Plisov, S.Y., Yoshino, K., Dove, L.F., Higinbotham, K.G., Rubin, J.S., and Perantoni, A.O. (2001). TGF beta 2, LIF and FGF2 cooperate to induce nephrogenesis. Development *128*, 1045-1057.

Potter, S.S., Hartman, H.A., Kwan, K.M., Behringer, R.R., and Patterson, L.T. (2007). Laser capture-microarray analysis of Lim1 mutant kidney development. Genesis *45*, 432-439.

Prelog, M., Scheidegger, P., Peter, S., Gershwin, M.E., Wick, G., and Sgonc, R. (2005). Diminished transforming growth factor beta2 production leads to increased expression of a profibrotic procollagen alpha2 type I messenger RNA variant in embryonic fibroblasts of UCD-200 chickens, a model for systemic sclerosis. Arthritis & Rheumatology 52, 1804-1811.

Qian, S.W., Tang, Y., Li, X., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y.Y., Huang, H.Y., Xue, R.D., Yu, H.Y., Guo, L., Gao, H.D., *et al.* (2013). BMP4-mediated brown fat-like changes in white adipose tissue alter glucose and energy homeostasis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *110*, E798-807.

Ranghini, E.J., and Dressler, G.R. (2015). Evidence for intermediate mesoderm and kidney progenitor cell specification by Pax2 and PTIP dependent mechanisms. Developmental Biology *399*, 296-305.

Reddi, A.H. (1998). Role of morphogenetic proteins in skeletal tissue engineering and regeneration. Nature Biotechnology *16*, 247-252.

Ren, S., Babelova, A., Moreth, K., Xin, C., Eberhardt, W., Doller, A., Pavenstadt, H., Schaefer, L., Pfeilschifter, J., and Huwiler, A. (2009). Transforming growth factorbeta2 upregulates sphingosine kinase-1 activity, which in turn attenuates the fibrotic response to TGF-beta2 by impeding CTGF expression. Kidney International *76*, 857-867.

Rinella, M.E. (2015). Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review. JAMA *313*, 2263-2273.

Riordan, J.D., and Nadeau, J.H. (2014). Modeling progressive non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in the laboratory mouse. Mammalian genome : Official Journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society *25*, 473-486.

Robinson, M.W., Harmon, C., and O'Farrelly, C. (2016). Liver immunology and its role in inflammation and homeostasis. Cell Molecular Immunology *13*, 267-276.

Robson, E.J., He, S.J., and Eccles, M.R. (2006). A PANorama of PAX genes in cancer and development. Nature Reviews Cancer 6, 52-62.

Rosen, E.D., Sarraf, P., Troy, A.E., Bradwin, G., Moore, K., Milstone, D.S., Spiegelman, B.M., and Mortensen, R.M. (1999). PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro. Molecular Cell *4*, 611-617.

Rosen, E.D., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2014). What we talk about when we talk about fat. Cell 156, 20-44.

Rosenwald, M., Perdikari, A., Rulicke, T., and Wolfrum, C. (2013). Bi-directional interconversion of brite and white adipocytes. Nature Cell Biology *15*, 659-667.

Rothwell, N.J., and Stock, M.J. (1983). Luxuskonsumption, diet-induced thermogenesis and brown fat: the case in favour. Clinical Science 64, 19-23.

Ryan, G., Steele-Perkins, V., Morris, J., Rauscher, F.J., III., and Dressler, G.R. (1995). Repression of Pax-2 by WT1 during normal kidney development. Development *121*, 867-875.

Sakurai, H., and Nigam, S.K. (1997). Transforming growth factor-beta selectively inhibits branching morphogenesis but not tubulogenesis. American Journal Physiology *272*, F139-146.

Saltiel, A.R. (2012). Insulin resistance in the defense against obesity. Cell Metabolism 15, 798-804.

Sano, Y., Harada, J., Tashiro, S., Gotoh-Mandeville, R., Maekawa, T., and Ishii, S. (1999). ATF-2 is a common nuclear target of Smad and TAK1 pathways in transforming growth factor-beta signaling. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274, 8949-8957.

Sanyanusin, P., McNoe, L.A., Sullivan, M.J., Weaver, R.G., and Eccles, M.R. (1995a). Mutation of PAX2 in two siblings with renal-coloboma syndrome. Human Molecular Genetics *4*, 2183-2184.

Sanyanusin, P., Schimmenti, L.A., McNoe, L.A., Ward, T.A., Pierpont, M.E.M., Sullivan, M.J., Dobyns, W.B., and Eccles, M.R. (1995b). Mutation of the *Pax2* gene in a family with optic nerve colobomas, renal anomalies and vesicoureteral reflux. Nature Genetics *9*, 358-364.

Sariola, H., and Saarma, M. (2003). Novel functions and signalling pathways for GDNF. Journal Cell Science *116*, 3855-3862.

Sasai, Y., Lu, B., Steinbeisser, H., and De Robertis, E.M. (1995). Regulation of neural induction by the Chd and Bmp-4 antagonistic patterning signals in Xenopus [published errata appear in Nature 1995 Oct 26;377(6551):757 and 1995 Nov 23;378(6555):419]. Nature *376*, 333-336.

Sasai, Y., Lu, B., Steinbeisser, H., Geissert, D., Gont, L.K., and De Robertis, E.M. (1994). Xenopus chordin: a novel dorsalizing factor activated by organizer-specific homeobox genes. Cell *79*, 779-790.

Sato, M., Muragaki, Y., Saika, S., Roberts, A.B., and Ooshima, A. (2003). Targeted disruption of TGF-beta1/Smad3 signaling protects against renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction. Journal of Clinical Investigation *112*, 1486-1494.

Saxen, L., and Sariola, H. (1987). Early organogenesis of the kidney. Pediatric Nephrology 1, 385-392.

Schimmenti, L.A. (2011). Renal coloboma syndrome. European Journal Human Genetics 12, 1207-12.

Schimmenti, L.A., Pierpont, M.E., Carpenter, B.L., Kashtan, C.E., Johnson, M.R., and Dobyns, W.B. (1995). Autosomal dominant optic nerve cologomas, vesicouretric reflux and renal anomalies. American Journal of Medical Genetics *59*, 204-208.

Schulz, T.J., Huang, P., Huang, T.L., Xue, R., McDougall, L.E., Townsend, K.L., Cypess, A.M., Mishina, Y., Gussoni, E., and Tseng, Y.H. (2013). Brown-fat paucity due to impaired BMP signalling induces compensatory browning of white fat. Nature *495*, 379-383.

Schulz, T.J., and Tseng, Y.H. (2013). Brown adipose tissue: development, metabolism and beyond. Biochemical Journal 453, 167-178.

Schwab, K.R., Patel, S.R., and Dressler, G.R. (2011). Role of PTIP in class switch recombination and long-range chromatin interactions at the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus. Molecular Cell Biolology *31*, 1503-1511.

Seale, P., Bjork, B., Yang, W., Kajimura, S., Chin, S., Kuang, S., Scime, A., Devarakonda, S., Conroe, H.M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., *et al.* (2008). PRDM16 controls a brown fat/skeletal muscle switch. Nature *454*, 961-967.

Seale, P., Kajimura, S., Yang, W., Chin, S., Rohas, L.M., Uldry, M., Tavernier, G., Langin, D., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2007). Transcriptional control of brown fat determination by PRDM16. Cell Metabolism *6*, 38-54.

Self, M., Lagutin, O.V., Bowling, B., Hendrix, J., Cai, Y., Dressler, G.R., and Oliver, G. (2006). Six2 is required for suppression of nephrogenesis and progenitor renewal in the developing kidney. EMBO Journal *25*, 5214-5228.

Senolt, L., Housa, D., Vernerova, Z., Jirasek, T., Svobodova, R., Veigl, D., Anderlova, K., Muller-Ladner, U., Pavelka, K., and Haluzik, M. (2007). Resistin in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue, synovial fluid and serum. Annals Rheumatic Diseases *66*, 458-463.

Shawlot, W., and Behringer, R.R. (1995). Requirement for Lim1 in head-organizer function. Nature *374*, 425-430.

Shen, J.J., Huang, L., Li, L., Jorgez, C., Matzuk, M.M., and Brown, C.W. (2009). Deficiency of growth differentiation factor 3 protects against diet-induced obesity by selectively acting on white adipose. Molecular Endocrinology *23*, 113-123.

Shi, Y., and Massague, J. (2003). Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell *113*, 685-700.

Short, M.K., Clouthier, D.E., Schaefer, I.M., Hammer, R.E., Magnuson, M.A., and Beale, E.G. (1992). Tissue-specific, developmental, hormonal, and dietary regulation of rat phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase-human growth hormone fusion genes in transgenic mice. Molecular and Cellular Biology *12*, 1007-1020.

Simonson, D.C., and DeFronzo, R.A. (1990). Indirect calorimetry: methodological and interpretative problems. American Journal of Physiology *258*, E399-412.

Sims-Lucas, S., Caruana, G., Dowling, J., Kett, M.M., and Bertram, J.F. (2008). Augmented and accelerated nephrogenesis in TGF-beta2 heterozygous mutant mice. Pediatric Research *63*, 607-612.

Skinner, M.A., Safford, S.D., Reeves, J.G., Jackson, M.E., and Freemerman, A.J. (2008). Renal aplasia in humans is associated with RET mutations. American Journal of Human Genetics *82*, 344-351.

Song, R., and Yosypiv, I.V. (2011). Genetics of congenital anomalies of the kidney and urinary tract. Pediatric Nephrology 3, 353-64.

Soofi, A., Levitan, I., and Dressler, G.R. (2012). Two novel EGFP insertion alleles reveal unique aspects of Pax2 function in embryonic and adult kidneys. Developmental Biology *365*, 241-250.

Soofi, A., Wolf, K.I., Emont, M.P., Qi, N., Martinez-Santibanez, G., Grimley, E., Ostwani, W., and Dressler, G.R. (2017). The kielin/chordin-like protein (KCP) attenuates high-fat diet-induced obesity and metabolic syndrome in mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry *292*, 9051-9062.

Soofi, A., Wolf, K.I., Ranghini, E.J., Amin, M.A., and Dressler, G.R. (2016). The kielin/chordin-like protein KCP attenuates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology *311*, G587-G598.

Soofi, A., Zhang, P., and Dressler, G.R. (2013). Kielin/chordin-like protein attenuates both acute and chronic renal injury. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 24, 897-905.

Souchelnytskyi, S., ten Dijke, P., Miyazono, K., and Heldin, C.H. (1996). Phosphorylation of Ser165 in TGF-beta type I receptor modulates TGF-beta1-induced cellular responses. EMBO Journal *15*, 6231-6240.

Spencer, M., Yao-Borengasser, A., Unal, R., Rasouli, N., Gurley, C.M., Zhu, B., Peterson, C.A., and Kern, P.A. (2010). Adipose tissue macrophages in insulinresistant subjects are associated with collagen VI and fibrosis and demonstrate alternative activation. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism 299, E1016-1027.

Stark, K., Vainio, S., Vassileva, G., and McMahon, A.P. (1994). Epithelial transformation of metanephric mesenchyme in the developing kidney regulated by Wnt-4. Nature *372*, 679-683.
Stenvers, K.L., Tursky, M.L., Harder, K.W., Kountouri, N., Amatayakul-Chantler, S., Grail, D., Small, C., Weinberg, R.A., Sizeland, A.M., and Zhu, H.J. (2003). Heart and liver defects and reduced transforming growth factor beta2 sensitivity in transforming growth factor beta type III receptor-deficient embryos. Molecular Cell Biology *23*, 4371-4385.

Stuart, E.T., Haffner, R., Oren, M., and Gruss, P. (1995). Loss of p53 function through PAX-mediated transcriptional repression. EMBO Journal 14, 5638-5645.

Sugimoto, H., LeBleu, V.S., Bosukonda, D., Keck, P., Taduri, G., Bechtel, W., Okada, H., Carlson, W., Jr., Bey, P., Rusckowski, M., *et al.* (2012). Activin-like kinase 3 is important for kidney regeneration and reversal of fibrosis. Nature Medicine *18*, 396-404.

Suh, J.H., and Miner, J.H. (2013). The glomerular basement membrane as a barrier to albumin. Nature Reviews Nephrology *9*, 470-477.

Sun, K., Tordjman, J., Clement, K., and Scherer, P.E. (2013). Fibrosis and adipose tissue dysfunction. Cell Metabolism *18*, 470-477.

Tan, C.K., Leuenberger, N., Tan, M.J., Yan, Y.W., Chen, Y., Kambadur, R., Wahli, W., and Tan, N.S. (2011). Smad3 deficiency in mice protects against insulin resistance and obesity induced by a high-fat diet. Diabetes *60*, 464-476.

Tang, W., Zeve, D., Suh, J.M., Bosnakovski, D., Kyba, M., Hammer, R.E., Tallquist, M.D., and Graff, J.M. (2008). White fat progenitor cells reside in the adipose vasculature. Science *322*, 583-586.

Tena, J.J., Neto, A., de la Calle-Mustienes, E., Bras-Pereira, C., Casares, F., and Gomez-Skarmeta, J.L. (2007). Odd-skipped genes encode repressors that control kidney development. Developmental Biology *301*, 518-531.

Thadhani, R., Pascual, M., and Bonventre, J.V. (1996). Acute renal failure. New England Journal of Medicine *334*, 1448-1460.

Tontonoz, P., Hu, E., and Spiegelman, B.M. (1994). Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR gamma 2, a lipid-activated transcription factor. Cell *79*, 1147-1156.

Torban, E., Eccles, M.R., Favor, J., and Goodyer, P.R. (2000). PAX2 suppresses apoptosis in renal collecting duct cells. American Journal of Pathology *157*, 833-842.

Torres, M., Gomez-Pardo, E., Dressler, G.R., and Gruss, P. (1995). Pax-2 controls multiple steps of urogenital development. Development *121*, 4057-4065.

Tsang, T.E., Shawlot, W., Kinder, S.J., Kobayashi, A., Kwan, K.M., Schughart, K., Kania, A., Jessell, T.M., Behringer, R.R., and Tam, P.P. (2000). Lim1 activity is required for intermediate mesoderm differentiation in the mouse embryo. Developmental Biology *223*, 77-90.

Tseng, Y.H., Kokkotou, E., Schulz, T.J., Huang, T.L., Winnay, J.N., Taniguchi, C.M., Tran, T.T., Suzuki, R., Espinoza, D.O., Yamamoto, Y., *et al.* (2008). New role of bone morphogenetic protein 7 in brown adipogenesis and energy expenditure. Nature *454*, 1000-1004.

Tsujimura, T., Idei, M., Yoshikawa, M., Takase, O., and Hishikawa, K. (2016). Roles and regulation of bone morphogenetic protein-7 in kidney development and diseases. World Journal Stem Cells *8*, 288-296.

Tuuri, T., Eramaa, M., Hilden, K., and Ritvos, O. (1994). The tissue distribution of activin beta A- and beta B-subunit and follistatin messenger ribonucleic acids suggests multiple sites of action for the activin-follistatin system during human development. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 78, 1521-1524.

van Herpen, N.A., and Schrauwen-Hinderling, V.B. (2008). Lipid accumulation in non-adipose tissue and lipotoxicity. Physiology & Behavior *94*, 231-241.

van Marken Lichtenbelt, W.D., Vanhommerig, J.W., Smulders, N.M., Drossaerts, J.M., Kemerink, G.J., Bouvy, N.D., Schrauwen, P., and Teule, G.J. (2009). Coldactivated brown adipose tissue in healthy men. New England Journal of Medicine *360*, 1500-1508.

Verdeguer, F., Le Corre, S., Fischer, E., Callens, C., Garbay, S., Doyen, A., Igarashi, P., Terzi, F., and Pontoglio, M. (2010). A mitotic transcriptional switch in polycystic kidney disease. Nature Medicine *16*, 106-110.

Virtanen, K.A., Lidell, M.E., Orava, J., Heglind, M., Westergren, R., Niemi, T., Taittonen, M., Laine, J., Savisto, N.J., Enerback, S., *et al.* (2009). Functional brown adipose tissue in healthy adults. New England Journal of Medicine *360*, 1518-1525.

Walker, K.A., Sims-Lucas, S., Caruana, G., Cullen-McEwen, L., Li, J., Sarraj, M.A., Bertram, J.F., and Stenvers, K.L. (2011). Betaglycan is required for the establishment of nephron endowment in the mouse. PLoS One *6*, e18723.

Wang, B., Koh, P., Winbanks, C., Coughlan, M.T., McClelland, A., Watson, A., Jandeleit-Dahm, K., Burns, W.C., Thomas, M.C., Cooper, M.E., *et al.* (2011). miR-200a Prevents renal fibrogenesis through repression of TGF-beta2 expression. Diabetes *60*, 280-287.

Wang, Q., and Margolis, B. (2007). Apical junctional complexes and cell polarity. Kidney International *72*, 1448-1458.

Wang, Q.A., Tao, C., Gupta, R.K., and Scherer, P.E. (2013). Tracking adipogenesis during white adipose tissue development, expansion and regeneration. Nature Medicine *19*, 1338-1344.

Ward, T.A., Nebel, A., Reeve, A.E., and Eccles, M.R. (1994). Alternative messenger RNA forms and open reading frames within an additional conserved region of the human PAX-2 gene. Cell Growth & Differentiation *5*, 1015-1021.

Weber, S., Moriniere, V., Knuppel, T., Charbit, M., Dusek, J., Ghiggeri, G.M., Jankauskiene, A., Mir, S., Montini, G., Peco-Antic, A., *et al.* (2006). Prevalence of mutations in renal developmental genes in children with renal hypodysplasia: results of the ESCAPE study. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *17*, 2864-2870.

Wellik, D.M., Hawkes, P.J., and Capecchi, M.R. (2002). Hox11 paralogous genes are essential for metanephric kidney induction. Genes & Development *16*, 1423-1432.

Wernstedt Asterholm, I., Tao, C., Morley, T.S., Wang, Q.A., Delgado-Lopez, F., Wang, Z.V., and Scherer, P.E. (2014). Adipocyte inflammation is essential for healthy adipose tissue expansion and remodeling. Cell Metabolism *20*, 103-118.

Whittle, A.J., Carobbio, S., Martins, L., Slawik, M., Hondares, E., Vazquez, M.J., Morgan, D., Csikasz, R.I., Gallego, R., Rodriguez-Cuenca, S., *et al.* (2012). BMP8B increases brown adipose tissue thermogenesis through both central and peripheral actions. Cell *149*, 871-885.

Wilkinson, D.M. (1992). Whole mount in situ hybridization of vertebrate embryos. In In Situ Hybridization: A Practical Approach, D.M. Wilkinson, ed. (Oxford: IRL Press), pp. 75-83.

Winyard, P.J., Risdon, R.A., Sams, V.R., Dressler, G.R., and Woolf, A.S. (1996). The PAX2 tanscription factor is expressed in cystic and hyperproliferative dysplastic epithelia in human kidney malformations. Journal of Clinicla Investigation *98*, 451-459.

Wong, Y., Cook, P., Roderick, P., and Somani, B.K. (2016). Metabolic Syndrome and Kidney Stone Disease: A Systematic Review of Literature. Journal of Endourology *30*, 246-253.

Wrana, J.L., Attisano, L., Wieser, R., Ventura, F., and Massague, J. (1994). Mechanism of activation of the TGF-beta receptor. Nature *370*, 341-347.

Wu, J., Cohen, P., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2013). Adaptive thermogenesis in adipocytes: is beige the new brown? Genes and Development 27, 234-250.

Xu, P.X., Adams, J., Peters, H., Brown, M.C., Heaney, S., and Maas, R. (1999). Eya1-deficient mice lack ears and kidneys and show abnormal apoptosis of organ primordia. Nature Genetics *23*, 113-117.

Xu, P.X., Zheng, W., Huang, L., Maire, P., Laclef, C., and Silvius, D. (2003). Six1 is required for the early organogenesis of mammalian kidney. Development *130*, 3085-3094.

Yadav, H., Quijano, C., Kamaraju, A.K., Gavrilova, O., Malek, R., Chen, W., Zerfas, P., Zhigang, D., Wright, E.C., Stuelten, C., *et al.* (2011). Protection from obesity and diabetes by blockade of TGF-beta/Smad3 signaling. Cell Metabolism *14*, 67-79.

Yadav, H., and Rane, S.G. (2012). TGF-beta/Smad3 Signaling Regulates Brown Adipocyte Induction in White Adipose Tissue. Frontiers in Endocrinology *3*, 35.

Yamamoto, T., Noble, N.A., Cohen, A.H., Nast, C.C., Hishida, A., Gold, L.I., and Border, W.A. (1996). Expression of transforming growth factor-beta isoforms in human glomerular diseases. Kidney International *49*, 461-469.

Yamanishi, Y., Kitaura, J., Izawa, K., Kaitani, A., Komeno, Y., Nakamura, M., Yamazaki, S., Enomoto, Y., Oki, T., Akiba, H., *et al.* (2010). TIM1 is an endogenous ligand for LMIR5/CD300b: LMIR5 deficiency ameliorates mouse kidney ischemia/reperfusion injury. Journal of Experimental Medicine 207, 1501-1511.

Yamashita, S., Maeshima, A., Kojima, I., and Nojima, Y. (2004). Activin A is a potent activator of renal interstitial fibroblasts. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology *15*, 91-101.

Yang, J., and Liu, Y. (2001). Dissection of key events in tubular epithelial to myofibroblast transition and its implications in renal interstitial fibrosis. American Journal of Pathology *159*, 1465-1475.

Yang, L., Humphreys, B.D., and Bonventre, J.V. (2011). Pathophysiology of acute kidney injury to chronic kidney disease: maladaptive repair. Contributions to Nephrology *174*, 149-155.

Yang, L., Roh, Y.S., Song, J., Zhang, B., Liu, C., Loomba, R., and Seki, E. (2014). Transforming growth factor beta signaling in hepatocytes participates in steatohepatitis through regulation of cell death and lipid metabolism in mice. Hepatology *59*, 483-495.

Yang, S.P., Woolf, A.S., Yuan, H.T., Scott, R.J., Risdon, R.A., O'Hare, M.J., and Winyard, P.J. (2000). Potential biological role of transforming growth factor-betal in human congenital kidney malformations. American Journal of Pathology *157*, 1633-1647.

Younossi, Z.M., Otgonsuren, M., Henry, L., Venkatesan, C., Mishra, A., Erario, M., and Hunt, S. (2015). Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in the United States from 2004 to 2009. Hepatology.

Yu, L., Border, W.A., Huang, Y., and Noble, N.A. (2003). TGF-beta isoforms in renal fibrogenesis. Kidney International *64*, 844-856.

Zamani, N., and Brown, C.W. (2011). Emerging roles for the transforming growth factor-{beta} superfamily in regulating adiposity and energy expenditure. Endocrine Reviews *32*, 387-403.

Zeisberg, M., Bottiglio, C., Kumar, N., Maeshima, Y., Strutz, F., Muller, G.A., and Kalluri, R. (2003a). Bone morphogenic protein-7 inhibits progression of chronic renal fibrosis associated with two genetic mouse models. American Journal Physiology Renal-Physiology *285*, F1060-1067.

Zeisberg, M., Hanai, J., Sugimoto, H., Mammoto, T., Charytan, D., Strutz, F., and Kalluri, R. (2003b). BMP-7 counteracts TGF-beta1-induced epithelial-tomesenchymal transition and reverses chronic renal injury. Nature Medicine *9*, 964-968.

Zhang, P., Cai, Y., Soofi, A., and Dressler, G.R. (2012). Activation of Wnt11 by Transforming Growth Factor-beta Drives Mesenchymal Gene Expression through Non-canonical Wnt Protein Signaling in Renal Epithelial Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry *287*, 21290-21302.

Zhang, S.L., Chen, Y.W., Tran, S., Liu, F., Nestoridi, E., Hebert, M.J., and Ingelfinger, J.R. (2007). Pax-2 and N-myc regulate epithelial cell proliferation and apoptosis in a positive autocrine feedback loop. Pediatric Nephrology *22*, 813-824.

Zhang, S.L., Guo, J., Moini, B., and Ingelfinger, J.R. (2004). Angiotensin II stimulates Pax-2 in rat kidney proximal tubular cells: impact on proliferation and apoptosis. Kidney International *66*, 2181-2192.

Ziyadeh, F.N., Hoffman, B.B., Han, D.C., Iglesias-De La Cruz, M.C., Hong, S.W., Isono, M., Chen, S., McGowan, T.A., and Sharma, K. (2000). Long-term prevention of renal insufficiency, excess matrix gene expression, and glomerular mesangial matrix expansion by treatment with monoclonal antitransforming growth factor-beta antibody in db/db diabetic mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *97*, 8015-8020.

Zuk, A., Bonventre, J.V., Brown, D., and Matlin, K.S. (1998). Polarity, integrin, and extracellular matrix dynamics in the postischemic rat kidney. American Journal of Physiology *275*, C711-731.

Zwijsen, A., Verschueren, K., and Huylebroeck, D. (2003). New intracellular components of bone morphogenetic protein/Smad signaling cascades. FEBS Lett 546, 133-139.

Candidate list of Publications

- **Soofi A** et al. The Kielin/Chordin-like Protein KCP can Attenuate High Fat Diet Induced Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome in Mice. Manuscript Under review JCB 2017.

- **Soofi** A et al The Kielin/Chordin-like Protein KCP Attenuates Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Mice. Under review American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, Aug, 2016.

- George B, Fan Q, Dlugos CP, Zhang J, **Soofi A**, Verma R, Park TJ, Wong H, Currant T, Nihalani D, and Holzman L B. Crk1/2 and CrkL form a hetero-oligomer and functionally complement each other during podocyte morphogenesis. Kidney Int. 2014 Jun;85(6):1382-94.

-Whiteman EL, Fan S, L Harder JL, Walton KD, Liu CJ, **Soofi A**, Fogg VC, Hershenson MB, Dressler GR, Deutsch GH, Gumucio DL, and Margolis B. Crumbs3 is Essential for Proper Epithelial Development and Viability. Molecular and Cellular Biology, October 2013.

- Blattner SM, Hodgin JB, Nishio M, Herbach N, Wanke R, Soofi A, Vining C, Saha J, Wylie S, Atkins K, Kann H, Henger A, Brakebusch C, Holzman LB, and Kretzler M. Divergent functions of Rho GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 in Podocyte injury. Kidney Int. 2013 May 15.

- Soofi A, Zhang P, Dressler GR. Kielin/ Chordin-Like Protein Attenuates both Acute and Chronic Renal Injury. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2013 Mar 28.

- Zhang P, Cai Y, **Soofi A**, Dressler GR. Activation of Wnt11 by transforming growth factor- β drives mesenchymal gene expression through non-canonical Wnt protein signaling in renal epithelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2012 Jun 15;287(25):21290-302.

- Soofi A, Levitan I, Dressler GR. Two novel EGFP insertion alleles reveal unique aspects of Pax2 function in embryonic and adult kidneys. <u>Dev Biol.</u> 2012 May 1;365(1):241-50.

- George B, Verma R, Soofi AA, Garg P, Zhang J, Park TJ, Giardino L, Ryzhova L, Johnstone DB, Wong H, Nihalani D, Salant DJ, Hanks SK, Curran T, Rastaldi MP, Holzman LB. Crk1/2-dependent signaling is necessary for podocyte foot process spreading in mouse models of glomerular disease. J Clin Invest. 2012 Feb 1;122(2):674.

- Garg P, Verma R, Cook L, **Soofi A**, Venkatareddy M, George B, Mizuno K, Gurniak C, Witke W, Holzman LB. Actin-depolymerizing factor cofilin-1 is necessary in maintaining mature podocyte architecture. J Biol Chem. 2010 Jul 16;285(29):22676-88.

- Verma R, Kovari I, **Soofi A**, Patrie K, and Holzman LB, M.D. Nephrin Ectodomain Engagement Induces Src Activity and Nephrin Y1208 Phosphorylation During Podocyte Differentiation (ASN, 2004).

- Moeller MJ, Soofi A, Braun GS, Li X, Watzl C, Kriz W, Holzman LB.Protocadherin FAT1 binds Ena/VASP proteins and is necessary for actin dynamics and cell polarization. EMBO J. 2004 Sep 2

- Moeller MJ, **Soofi A**, Hartmann I, Le Hir M, Wiggins R, Kriz W, Holzman LB. Podocytes populate cellular crescents in a murine model of inflammatory glomerulonephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2004 Jan;15(1):61-7.

- Cabelof DC, Yanamadala S, Raffoul JJ, Guo Z, **Soofi A**, Heydari AR. Caloric Restriction Promotes Genomic Stability by Induction of Base Excision Repair and Reversal of its Age-Related Decline. DNA Repair 2003; Mar 1;2(3):295-307.

- Moeller MJ, Sanden SK, **Soofi A**, Wiggins RC, Holzman LB. Podocyte-specific expression of cre recombinase in transgenic mice. Genesis 2003 Jan;35(1):39-42.

- Moeller MJ, Sanden SK, **Soofi A**, Wiggins RC, Holzman LB. Two gene fragments that direct podocyte-specific expression in transgenic mice. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002 Jun;13(6):1561-7.

- W. Hatahet, **A. Soofi,** L. Cole & T. Fungwe. Differential expression of HDL in Human ApoB100xCETP Transgenic Mice Fed Defined Fatty Acid Diet. FASEB 15(5), 448:16, 2001.

- Cabelof DC, Yanamadala S, Ganir C, **Soofi A,** Raffoul JJ, Richardson A, Heydari AR. Up-regulation of base excision repair in response to oxidative damage. FASEB J. 2000; 14: A516.

- Yanamadala S, Raffoul JJ, **Soofi A**, Ganir C, Heydari AR. Effect of Age and Caloric Restriction on Base Excision Repair Pathway in Mice and Rats. FASEB J. 1999; 13: A234.

- Raffoul JJ, Guo Z, **Soofi A**, Heydari AR. Caloric restriction and genomic stability. J Nutr Health Aging. 1999;3(2):102-10. Review.

- Alexis Vidal Novoa, **Abdul A Soofi**, et al. Concentraciones séricas de Calcio y Magnesio en alcohólicos durante el tratamiento de desintoxicación. Rev. Cubana Aliment Nutr 1998; 12(1):29-34.

Personal Statement

The prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) and obesity-related conditions such as heart disease, stroke, type 2 diabetes and certain types of cancer, are some of the leading causes of preventable death. In the U.S. alone, CKD prevalence was recently estimated at 336 per million a year and the rate of obesity reached 34.9%. The estimated annual medical cost of obesity in the U.S. was \$147 billion in 2008. Renal fibrosis is the major determinant in progression of acute and chronic kidney diseases. The transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) superfamily has been shown to be an important mediator of progressive fibrosis and to influence the differentiation of preadipocytes to mature adipocytes. Thus, an understanding of interactions between chronic kidney disease and metabolic syndrome is an important issue and attention should be given to TGF β superfamily as crucial factors for regulation and modulation of those pathological conditions.

This thesis proposal will focus on demonstrating that modification of the TGF β superfamily signaling pathway with a secreted inhibitor or enhancer can alter the metabolic profile of adipose tissue to reduce obesity and inhibit the initiation and progression of hepatic steatosis. This significantly reduces the effects of metabolic diseases induced by a high fat diet and attenuate kidney disease in animal models. This work will provide a new insight on how a secreted proteins or derivatives could attenuate profibrotic pathways, and may provide a novel approach to translating the protective role into clinical benefit.

Pursuing my PhD degree at Warwick University will enable me to fulfill my personal achievements and career objectives and establish the ideal foundation for my future roles as a researcher. I am committed to improving a deeper public consciousness of crucial health problems like obesity and cancer. Having completed my PhD degree, I would be able to continue working for patient benefit, through my research. Throughout my research career I have pursued the goal of improving the lives of others. During my undergraduate and master programs (1987-1994) I studied biomarkers of alcoholism. As a result of that tremendous personal effort, biomarkers of alcoholism were used for the first time in the diagnosis and treatment of alcoholism in several heath institutions in Cuba thereby improving the health and quality of life of patients and their families. In Yemen, the drug called Khat and the misuse of pesticides represent another kind of epidemic causing health, social and economic problems and eventually leading to destruction of families. When I returned to Yemen from Cuba, in June 1995, I spent one year working diligently on a project to create the Toxicology Center which would serve as a basis to establishing forensic medicine in the country. In addition, I participated in educational programs and, through the use of local and national media, persuaded the public to understand the critical nature of these problems.

At the end of 1996, I moved to the U.S. and I decided to stay there because of the many opportunities for advancing my career. However, in the beginning it wasn't very easy for many reasons, including getting accustomed to the language, but I dedicated much effort to becoming familiar quickly. Coming from a family with minimal formal education, I had to migrate, first within Yemen, and later to Cuba where I obtained my basic science training. In 1996, I moved to Detroit, Michigan (U.S.) where I noticed that many children of illiterate immigrant parents struggled with their school homework, so I volunteered to participate in after school educational programs to help them and to provide them with a safe environment.

At the beginning of 1997, I started my scientific research work in the U.S. at Wayne State University in aging and DNA repair. Then in 2000, I moved to the University of Michigan where I was hired to run the renal core in the Nephrology Division. We generated several cell and mouse models to study glomerular structure and glomerular diseases. At the end of 2009, I joined Dr. Dressler's laboratory in the Department of Pathology where, among other responsibilities, I have had the opportunity to have my own projects. Since then, I have been working on interrelated projects and publications of my latest works which will be used to obtain my PhD.

Obtaining my PhD degree represents the culmination of my studies and carries immense personal importance. Above all, I hope to inspire my coworkers, friends and families, but most importantly my 17 years old daughter and 15 years old autistic son. Professionally, it will open new doors to new opportunities and give me the authority to independently pursue my scientific research. This is critical for me to be able to collaborate with scientists in countries facing similar health challenges to tackle these serious illnesses.

Abdulsalam Ahmed Muthana Soofi